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Annual report 2016 including sustainability report prepared under GRI G4 
 guidelines

This integrated annual and sustainability report 
describes AP3’s approach to achieving the best 
possible investment returns on behalf of the 
Swedish state pension system. Ever since the AP 
funds were launched as part of a pension system 
reform in 2001, AP3 has been creating value for 
the pensioners of today and tomorrow. 

Communication with our stakeholders is criti-
cal to creating an understanding of AP3’s objec-
tives and strategy. It is also important to explain 
our approach to investment. Over the years we 
have hosted multiple visits from foreign pensi-

on funds that see the Swedish pension system as 
a model.   

The 2016 sustainability report was prepared in 
accordance with the G4 guidelines of the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI). AP3 has elected to re-
port at ”core” level with financial services sector 
dis closures. The report includes a materiality ana-
lysis, an overview of AP3’s stakeholder dialogue in 
2016 and the GRI index. The integration of sustai-
nability reporting in the annual report reflects in-
creased stakeholder focus on good environmental 
and social governance. See more at www.ap3.se. 

Financial information
Updated information on operating activities 
and investment holdings and all annual and 
 interim reports, in Swedish and English, since 
inception are available on the AP3 website. 
www.ap3.se

Contact 
AP3, Box 1176, 111 91 Stockholm, Sweden 
info@ap3.se
+46 8 555 17 100 
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AP3 - 2016 in brief  
 AP3 reported a net result of SEK 27,981 million. 

 Total return was 9.5% before expenses and 9.4% after expenses.

 Fund capital stood at SEK 324,375 million at year-end, up SEK 21,344 million from the prior year. 

 AP3 made payments of SEK 6,637 million (4,944) to the pension system in 2016.

 The management expense ratio was 0.12%, of which operating expenses were 0.06%. 

 Average return in the last five and ten years stands at 10.9% and 5.7% respectively.

 The Fund outperformed the benchmark LSP portfolio by 2.3 percentage points after expenses  

in 2016. Over the last five years, return has exceeded the LSP by an annual average of 3.3 

 percentage points. 

 The Fund recorded a further decrease in the carbon footprint of its portfolio holdings, which 

achieved carbon neutrality in 2014.  

 AP3 more than doubled its holdings of green bonds, from SEK 4.5 billion to SEK 9.5 billion.  

 Since inception in 2001 AP3 has generated a 4.4% average annual return in real terms, which  

is above its long-term target of 4%.

 Key figures

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Fund capital at 31 Dec, SEK bn 324.4 303.0 288.3 258.5 233.0

Net flow from pension system, SEK bn -6.6 -4.9 -5.1 -6.9 -3.8

Net result, SEK bn 28.0 19.6 35.0 32.4 22.6

Return before expenses, % 9.5 6.9 13.8 14.2 10.7

Return after expenses, % 9.4 6.8 13.7 14.1 10.7

Management expense ratio, % 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.14

Management expense ratio excluding  
commission expenses, % 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.08

Management 
expense ratio of

0.12%

Fund capital of SEK bn 

324.4

Return of

9.5%

Net result of SEK bn 

28.0

2016 IN BRIEF | AP3
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A good year, but an uncertain future
The year delivered two major electoral sur-
prises in the shape of the UK referendum 
on EU membership and the US presidential 
election. The outcomes of these votes caused 
uncertainty, but financial markets showed 
resilience by recovering quickly. Central 
banks played their part by providing consid-
erable monetary stimulus, with the  Federal 
Reserve delaying any increase in interest 
rates until the last month of the year. 

Net result of SEK 28 billion  
For AP3, 2016 was a good year, with an 
especially strong performance in the sec-
ond half. A net result of SEK 28 billion rep-
resents a return of 9.4% after expenses. All 
our risk categories made positive contribu-
tions, with equities and real estate leading 
the way. The Swedish real estate companies 
that AP3 has helped to build and develop 
delivered very high returns, with Vasakro-
nan and Hemsö both achieving a return on 
equity of around 30%.

Capital buffer working well
In 2016 AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 paid out 
SEK 26.5 billion to the Swedish pension  

system to cover the deficit between pension 
system contributions and outgoing pensions 
and administration costs. In the next five 
years the system will require a further SEK 
180 billion, necessitating annual contribu-
tions of SEK 36 billion from the four funds. 
In the funds’ absence, this money would have 
to come from the central government budget. 

Most importantly, current and future 
pensioners can be secure in the knowledge 
that the system will have enough money to 
meet its commitments, as the Swedish Pen-
sions Agency has projected. This year’s com-
bined returns from the AP funds will raise 
the state pension capital buffer by around 
SEK 100 billion to SEK 1,300 billion.

Cost-effective system
It is often said that the costs of managing 
and administering pensions have a major 
bearing on the size of the pensions that are 
paid out. The state income pension scheme 
has very low costs. The Swedish  Pensions 
Agency has calculated that pensioners 
retain 99% of their pensions once all the 
costs that accrue during the time they earn 
pension credits have been deducted.

Two ways to monitor efficiency  
AP3 always maintains a close focus on costs. 
A professional organisation has to be cost- 
effective, which means keeping track of 
expenditure and using new tools and meth-
ods to improve efficiency. 

We monitor our internal costeffective-
ness in two ways. We benchmark our asset 
management strategy against the cheapest 
alternative that shares our investment tar-
gets, and we measure our costs against those 
of com parable international pension funds.

Big contributor to pensions
The cheapest alternative asset management 
model is a zero-cost portfolio1 known as the 
long-term static portfolio (LSP). In 2016 
our return after costs was 2.3 percentage 
points higher than the LSP. In money terms, 
this equated to SEK 6.4 billion. Our returns 
in the last five years have outperformed the 
LSP and, as the diagram shows, these excess 
returns have more than covered our net con-
tribution to the pension system during that 
period. The public can therefore be assured 
that AP3’s asset management strategy is 
both cost-effective and productive in terms 
of the billions of kronor we generate to help 
keep the pension system stable.

Holding our own internationally
The consultants CEM Benchmarking2 com-
pare our costs to those of  similiarly sized 
international pension funds. Their analysis 
paints us in a good light: our costs are lower 
– and our returns higher – than the bench-
mark average.

From time to time we hear questions 
about whether the AP funds are  sacrificing 
economies of scale by operating as indepen-
dent funds rather than as a single entity. For 
this reason, we asked CEM to compare our 
costs with those of the largest funds in its 
study. The results showed our asset manage-
ment costs to be lower on average than those 
of the largest funds, which suggests that the 

AP3  | STATEMENT BY THE CEO

“Weaker prospects and forecasts raise the   
question of whether AP3’s baseline target of a 

4%  annual real return should be revised” 

AP3 has generated an aggregate return of SEK 139 billion in the last five years
Return exceeded the benchmark LSP portfolio by SEK 29.8 billion before expenses.

Fund capital 
31 Dec 2011

Return on 
benchmark LSP

Excess return 
from AP3

External fees AP3’s expenses Swedish 
Pensions Agency 
administration 

expenses

Net payments Fund capital at 
31 Dec 2016

214.1

109.5
29.8

-0.8 -0.9 -1.1
-26.3

324.4

1) Assumes the LSP to have zero costs, whereas in practice costs would apply. See Glossary, page 66.      
2) CEM Benchmarking specialises in investment cost comparisons and return analysis. 
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size of the individual AP funds is sufficient 
and that our costs are more a function of our 
asset management strategy than our size. In 
my view, the fact that the AP funds compete 
against each other while also working closely 
together helps to drive high cost- efficiency.

Office move  
While the robust state of Sweden’s real 
estate market provided support for our 
strong in - vestment returns, it had a con-
trasting impact in the form of a sharp 
increase in our office rent. In order to keep 
costs down, we decided to move to a smaller 
space and to benefit from the opportunities 
of digitalisation and sustainable  working. 
The move takes place in the spring of 2017, 
while the digitalisation process will be 
phased over time.

Doubling up in green bonds
During the year we continued to make 
 progress in sustainability and clarified our 
sustainable investment targets for the port-
folio. We consider that our greatest contri-
bution to sustainable development can be 
achieved within funding due to our high 
degree of accuracy. We have ambitious tar-
gets for green bonds and increased our hold-
ings of these instruments in 2016, from 
SEK 4.5 billion to SEK 9.5 billion. AP3 was 
a green bond investment pioneer when we 
made our first purchase of this asset class in 
2007. Today, we are one of the largest Nor-
dic investors in green bonds.

The carbon footprint of our investment 
holdings continued to decrease in 2016 and 
our CO2 analysis now covers the entire port-

folio. In 2016 we extended our sustaina-
bility reporting in compliance with the GRI 
G4 guidelines, engaging in stakeholder dia-
logue and producing a materiality analysis. 
The annual report describes how we seek to 
meet the expectations of our stakeholders 
and owner in this arena. 

Annual return of almost 11% 
Our primary mission is to generate invest-
ment returns that are sustainable and stable 
over time. Our returns in the last five years 
have been exceptionally high, at almost 11% 
per annum before expenses, and have been 
achieved with a balanced portfolio. All risk 
categories have delivered, including fixed 
income and currencies – which made posi-
tive contributions during a period of equity 
market strength. This is unusual and reflects 
a combination of expansive mone tary poli-
cy, low inflation and solid  economic growth.

Lower returns expected 
Central bank policy has been a key factor 
behind our high returns. The Riksbank’s 
monetary policy, however, is aimed at rais-
ing prices. Were that to happen, we could 
expect interest rates to rise and the krona 
to strengthen. This would reduce the value 
of the AP3 bond portfolio and our curren-
cy exposures and would, in the short term, 
be negative for our investment returns. If we 
look at longer-term trends – an ageing pop-
ulation, over-production and digitalisation 
– we can expect slower growth going for-
ward, which in turn suggests lower returns 
on financial instruments, both in the short 
and long run.

Revised return target conceivable 
Some forecasters predict that a portfolio 
comprising 60% equities and 40% bonds 
(in other words, with the same risk profile as 
AP3) will generate a real return of just 2% 
in the next 10 years.1 Weaker prospects and 
forecasts raise the question of whether AP3’s 
baseline target of a 4% annual real return 
should be revised. The board of directors 
has, however, elected to wait with this mat-
ter due to uncertainty and the absence of 
time pressure. The target is long-term in 
nature and our strong returns in recent years 
will allow us to maintain our current risk 
profile.

Our actions are important  
The challenges that we face going  forward 
will make significant demands on us as a 
fund. In future, it is likely to be even more 
important that we generate significant-
ly higher returns than a passively managed 
portfolio such as the LSP. Our people are 
highly skilled and during the year we fur-
ther strengthened our team. Our efforts 
will be increasingly significant to our con-
tribution to the pension system. On that 
note, I would like to thank everyone at AP3 
– employees and directors alike – for their 
joint efforts and dedication to ensuring the 
health of the income pension system for cur-
rent and future pensioners.

Kerstin Hessius, 
CEO

VD-ORD   | TREDJE AP-FONDEN

1) Norwegian government’s Statens Pensjonsfond Utland, Bridgewater and JP Morgan Asset Management.
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AP3  | THE SWEDISH PENSION SYSTEM

Guaranteeing pension value
AP3, together with AP1, AP2 and AP4, invests and manages a capital buffer that is designed to enable the  
state income pension to meet its current and future commitments without any need for an increase in pension 
contributions or taxes. In this way, AP3 helps to ensure the value of the Swedish state pension for current and 
future pensioners. 

The state pension is designed to allow all 
pension savers to look forward to an  income 
when they retire, regardless of  prevailing 
economic conditions or demographic 
changes. Providing this  security for every-
one in work today requires a  stable  system 
with solid margins. The state pension sys-
tem comprises an income pension and a 
premium pension. Both are  independent 
from the central government budget and 
are financed by monthly contributions from 
employers based on their employees’ pen-
sionable income. AP3, along with AP1, 
AP2, AP4 and AP6, plays an  important role 
in the income pension as a guarantor of the 
state pension.

Big contributors to the pension system 
The income pension system is pay-as-you-
go, meaning that an individual’s state pen-
sion contributions give rise to pension 
credits that do not accrue until retirement. 
The individual’s contributions are used to 
pay the pensions of current retirees.

AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 manage the 
 income pension system’s portfolio invest-
ments. Surpluses that arise within the sys-
tem are transferred to the four funds, 
which in return pay capital to the system 
to  cover deficits in pension commitments. 
The funds’ combined assets exist as a cap-
ital buffer. As well as their day-to-day role 
of balancing  incoming payments to the 

 pension system with outgoing liabilities, the 
funds (together with AP6) also contribute 
to the system’s long-term financing. 

The higher the funds’ assets are in rela-
tion to the system’s liabilities, the lower is 
the risk of automatic balancing being acti-
vated. As long as their capital grows faster 
than the income index, the funds are posi-
tive contributors to the system. Their share 
of total income pension system assets has 
risen from 10% to 15% since inception in 
2001, meaning that the funds have made a 
strongly positive contribution to the health 
of the state pension system. 

3. Private pension

2. Occupational pension

1. State pension
Prem

ium
 pension   AP7 et al

Income pension

(and AP1, AP2, AP4 and AP6)
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THE SWEDISH PENSION SYSTEM | AP3

26.5
SEK bn paid by AP1, AP2, AP3 
and AP4 to cover the pension 

system deficit in 2016

15%
 of pension system assets held by 

AP funds
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Our asset management mandate and struc-
ture distinguish us from other institutional 
investors and enable us to be long-term 
owners and to act with flexibility. This 
reflects the low cost of capital associated 
with being a state-owned entity, the size of 
our fund capital and the fact that the AP 
funds are subject to a more benign regula-
tory framework than banks and insurance 
companies.

 These factors sit comfortably with our 
long-term mandate and give us  competitive 
advantages that we can use to identify invest-
ments capable of elevating our returns and 
reducing portfolio risk. 

AP3’s task is to deliver successful invest-
ment management that contributes to the 
stability of the pension system over both the 
short and long term. We achieve this if our 
return on capital exceeds average national 
wage growth, as measured by the income 
index.  

Exceeding national wage growth
Creating the optimum conditions for 
success ful asset management involves for-
mulating our commitment to the pension 
system as a clear target. This target needs to 

minimise the risk of a decrease in paid-out 
pensions and achieve fairness between cur-
rent and future generations.. Based on com-
prehensive analysis of the pension system 
and projected returns on financial assets, 
the AP3 board of directors has set a target 
of 4% for annual real return. This figure 
strikes a good balance between ensuring 
the long-term stability of the pension sys-
tem and limiting the risk of short-term 
falls in fund value. It also serves as a useful 
guideline when making long-term invest-
ment decisions.

Diversification
AP3’s investment strategy is geared to 
achieving the target return over the long 
term. To achieve this we put together a 
portfolio of different assets and strategies 
capable of meeting the target. We also use 
structured methods to change the compo-
sition of the portfolio by adjusting levels of 
risk to prevailing market conditions. 

At AP3 we base our asset management 
strategy on a diversified approach to risk. 
The division of the portfolio into  different 
risk categories underlines this approach. 
The risk categories, which include equities, 

Investment strategy founded on unique elements
AP3’s mission is to pursue an investment strategy that is sustainable over time and delivers strong returns at a 
reasonable level of risk. 

fixed income instruments, credits, inflation, 
currencies and absolute return strategies, 
each represent a type of underlying risk. 

AP3 has equity exposure of around 
50% and this is our largest form of risk. 
The National Pension Insurance Funds 
Act requires us to hold at least 30% of our 
assets in liquid fixed income securities. Cur-
rent bond yields mean that returns on fixed 
income  instruments are projected to be low. 
In addition, fixed income securities have a 
weaker diversification effect on the port folio 
during periods of low bond yields. Since 
inception in 2001 we have sought to reduce 
our  vulnerability to large drops in share 
prices by investing in a diversified range of 
investments that are cost-effective while 
also falling within our investment rules. 
Hence, we have gradually allocated more of 
our investment capital to alternative assets 
such as real estate, infrastructure, timber-
land and private equity.  Our long-term 
return target serves as an excellent guide 
to our minimum requirements for current 
and future investments in alternative assets. 
Alternative investments currently comprise 
around one fifth of the portfolio. 

AP3  | INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES 
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Return target

Performance assessment

Investment philosophy

Special conditions

Asset management strategies

Different investment horizons  
– strategic and tactical asset allocation
In the long run, the allocation of  capital 
and capital-free strategies is the single 
most important factor for AP3’s invest-
ment returns and overall portfolio risk.  
Effective risk allocation is achieved 
through diversification and by making 
dynamic changes to allocations over the 
medium term in response to financial 
market conditions. This is called strate-
gic allocation and is based on a struc-
tured process over the medium to long 
term in which risk is adjusted primar-
ily in accordance with macroeconomic 
forecasts and projected returns. Con-
crete investment strategies include allo-
cations to listed equities and alternative 
assets. Besides strategic asset allocation, 
we also use tactical asset allocation. Here 
the time frame is shorter and the empha-
sis is on seeking by quantitative or quali-
tative methods to identify assets that are 
over- or undervalued. 

Over time, we believe that a combina-
tion of diversification and strategic invest-
ment across different horizons will enable 
us to meet our target at a reasonable level 
of risk.

Sustainability – always based  
on operational imperatives
AP3’s commitment to sustainability is 
based on the core values of the Swedish gov-
ernment. Sweden is a signatory to United 
Nations and other international conven-
tions that also form part of our sustainability 
framework, a framework that is connected 
to – and forms a key pillar of – our invest-
ment strategy. Sustainability practices are 
firmly embedded in our asset management 
operations and can present a risk as well as an 
opportunity. They are a significant factor in 
our asset management process and invest-
ment analysis. 

It is our belief that well-run companies 
which address climate change and  social 
issues in a responsible  manner deliver higher 
returns at a lower level of risk over time. 
Our stewardship focuses on areas where we 
believe we can exert the most influence and 
achieve the maximum impact. We coordi-
nate much of this work with the other AP 
funds via the  Ethical Council, although 
each fund always makes its own decisions 
on individual  investments. 

The AP3 asset management strategy 
covers a range of assets and approaches 
that together set the scene for our sustaina-
bility commitments. Exerting influ-

ence through active engagement and 
 dialogue – corporate stewardship –  is 
easier in investees where we are a major 
shareholder (mainly real estate compa-
nies and companies listed on the Swedish 
stock market). Our ability to be  proactive 
in companies of this type means we are 
unlikely to have to resort to a  portfolio 
exclusion or sale for sustainability-related 
reasons. In our small cap portfolio, where 
our holdings are small and spread over 
a large number of companies, we have 
modified our strategy by conducting 
quantitative sustainability screening that 
leads to holdings being sold if the inves-
tee has significant sustainability-related 
shortcomings. 

As of 2015, AP3 has four key sustaina-
bility goals focused on the areas in which 
we believe we have the best opportunities 
to effectuate change in a pro-sustainabil-
ity direction without compromising our 
investment returns. 

The sustainability goals cover: 
•  Carbon footprint
•  Green bonds
•  Strategic sustainable investments
•  Green buildings 

 Read more about our sustainability goals 
on page 11 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES  | AP3

Size of fund 
capital

Short  
decision-making 

process

State 
ownership Regulations Long-term 

mission

Risk-takingForecastability
Risk 

diversification
Corporate 

stewardship

Long-term 
strategic 

Long-term 
static portfolio 

(LSP) 
AP3 portfolio 

Medium-term 
(strategic/

tactical) 

Short-term 
(tactical) 

4% 
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Sustainable energy

AP3  | INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES – SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable cities  
and societies

Water

Labour practices

Sustainable industry, 
innovation,  
infrastructure

Climate

Human rights

Goal Examples of AP3’s actions

The AP3 portfolio is already CO2-neutral, reflecting our ambition to address climate impact through the measure-
ment of carbon footprint. We have committed to halve the portfolio’s carbon footprint by the end of 2018. We have 
a strong focus on investments in green bonds and intend to increase this portfolio to SEK 15 billion by the end of 
2018. We also take account of investees’ climate footprint when making investment decisions. 

AP3 invests in funds with a clear sustainability profile and in companies with renewable energy strategies. Vasa-
kronan, which is owned jointly by the AP funds, is an example of a real estate company that invests in solar energy.

AP3 will double its strategic sustainability investments, including investments in water treatment and industrial 
water recycling, by the end of 2018.

Goals and sub-goals for our investments across all categories help to drive efforts to ensure respect for human rights. 

AP3’s investments contribute to employment and economic growth. We engage in dialogue with companies to 
combat forced or child labour, slavery and trafficking. We also promote measures to protect workers’ rights and a 
safe work environment (including through the collective actions of the AP funds’ Ethical Council).

AP3’s investments, for instance our holding in electricity distribution utility Ellevio, contribute to business sustainability 
through a zero vision for workplace injuries, lower environmental impact and a preference for solutions that do not harm 
people, animals or the environment. Our real estate investees also work actively in the field of sustainable innovation.  

AP3 is a strong advocate of sustainable cities through our shareholdings and corporate stewardship. Vasakronan is a 
leader in energy-saving and efficient office spaces and serves as a model for our other real estate investees. 

Focus areas 
for AP3 

AP3 supports the UN Sustainable Development Goals
In September 2015, the 193 member states of the United Nations approved 17 global goals for sustainable and  fair 
development by 2030. The goals, which replace the eight Millennium Goals, seek to abolish extreme poverty, to reduce 
inequality and injustice and to solve the global climate crisis. Reaching the goals requires governments, civil society and 
businesses to work together.  

In 2016, leading global institutional inves-
tors attended the annual PRI conference to 
agree a shared definition of sustainable 
development investments as a means to sup-
port the Global Goals and to encourage 
other large institutional investors to take 
similar action. Afterwards, AP3 and the 
other Swedish AP funds joined some of 
Europe’s largest pension funds in signing a 
statement stressing the importance of 

institutional investors investing in solutions 
that promote the Sustainable Development 
Goals. AP3 is a member of Swedish Investors 
for Sustaina ble Development, a platform for 
learning and sharing information about 
Agenda 2030 for long-term Swedish inves-
tors and financial sector actors.

From words to action
The graphic below summarises the key areas 

in which AP3 can make a difference and 
where we have the greatest ability to drive 
change on behalf of the Sustainable 
Development Goals. For example, in 2016 
AP3 signed the Paris Green Bond Statement 
along with a large number of other global 
bond market investors to promote green 
bond issues as a route to financing the tran-
sition that climate change necessitates.  

AP3 is involved in activities 
aimed at achieving the 17 
UN SDG’s. 
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Sustainability goals for 2018 Follow-up – status at 31 Dec 2016

Carbon footprint – The carbon footprint of our listed 
equity and credits holdings will be halved by 2018 
compared to 2014. AP3 encourages all investees to 
report their carbon footprint by 2018.

The portfolio’s carbon footprint fell by 11% in 2016 and 
has decreased by 25% since 2014. We wrote to 100 
companies with some of the highest global carbon 
footprints and asked for information on how they are 
tackling this issue.

   Read more about carbon footprint on page 12

Green bonds – In accordance with COP21, AP3 seeks 
to promote the development of the green bond 
 market by more than tripling our holdings of green 
bonds from SEK 4.5 billion in 2015 to SEK 15 billion  
by the end of 2018.

In 2016 we increased our green bond holdings by SEK  
5 billion, from SEK 4.5 billion to more than SEK 9.5 
billion.

  Read more about green bonds on page 25

Sustainability investments – We will double from 
SEK 10 billion to SEK 20 billion our strategic sustaina-
bility investments in water treatment by the end of 
2018. 

During the year AP3 invested SEK 1.3 billion in water 
treatment. AP3 has committed a total of SEK 18 billion  
to strategic sustainability investments.

  Read more about our water investments on page 22

Green buildings – AP3 works to ensure that 
Vasakronan, Scandinavia’s largest real estate company 
(in which AP3 owns a 25% equity stake) will continue 
to lead the way in sustainability in the real estate 
 sector in Sweden. We also make it a priority to ensure 
that our other real estate investees (Hemsö, Trophi, 
Regio and others) adopt ambitious sustainability 
 policies modelled on Vasakronan as they mature.

Real estate investees’ actions in 2016: Hemsö issued 
the first Nordic sustainable bond. Trophi completed  
a comprehensive sustainability analysis. The newly 
established Trenum launched a sustainability 
 programme in conjunction with Balder. Regio began  
supplying green energy to its properties.

   Read more about our real estate investments  
on page 22

INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES – SUSTAINABILITY | AP3

Sustainability focus and goals for 2018
AP3 has a set of goals aimed at further elevating our performance in sustainability. The goals are due for fulfilment 
in 2018 and this year’s review shows we are making progress.

Climate change makes demands on society’s 
use of resources and has an impact on how 
our portfolio performs. We have therefore 
chosen to focus specifically on climate im- 
pact by establishing concrete goals. In so 
doing, we have further raised the bar in our 
effort to promote sustainability.

Four goals for 2014 – 2018
Since 2015, AP3 has four key sustainable 
development goals that highlight the areas 
where we can make the greatest impact and 
where we have the best prospect of  influenc - 
ing society to move in a sustainable  direction, 
without compromising our investment 
returns. 

Here, we have adopted different strate-
gies to reflect our different shareholdings 
and we monitor our progress on a yearly 
basis.
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AP3  | INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES – SUSTAINABILITY  FOCUS 2016

AP3’s carbon footprint

Climate change is a serious global challenge and all parts of society need 
to mobilise to reduce carbon emissions. Investors have an important role 
to play by including sustainable development in their investment decisions 
and minimising the carbon footprint of their portfolios. AP3 aims to be a 
leader in this field and we are continuously reducing the carbon footprint 
of our portfolio.

According to the NASA Goddard Institute 
for Space Studies, the first six months of 2016 
were the warmest on Earth since records 
began in 1880. This knowledge only increases 
our conviction of the need to work constantly 
to reduce the carbon footprint of our 
portfolio. 

Strong position and high ambitions
When we first measured CO2 emissions in 
2014, we found the portfolio to be carbon -
neutral. But we have not stopped there. 
Since then, we have raised the bar for our 
sustainability ambitions. By 2018, our goal 
is to have halved the carbon footprint of our 
listed equity and credit holdings from its 
2014 level. AP3 also urges all investees to 
report their carbon footprint by 2018.

Further cut in CO2 emissions in 2016
The reduction in our climate impact contin-
ued in 2016. The portfolio’s carbon foot-
print fell by 11% and has decreased by 25% 
since 2014. We are now approaching our 
goal of a 50% reduction in carbon footprint 
by 2018. As at 31 December 2016, AP3’s 
carbon footprint was 47% lower than that 
of the benchmark global index. During the 
year we took various investment decisions 
that we believe will have a positive impact 
on our carbon footprint, including an 
investment in an unlisted fund focused on 
timberland in Australia and New Zealand. 

How AP3 takes 
practicalstepsto 
promotelower 
CO2 emissions
Investors use various strategies to reduce 
their portfolio’s carbon footprint. AP3 has 
chosen an approach that may not have the 
biggest immediate impact on the figures, 
but which we expect will go farthest in 
 driving long-term change. 

Different sectors and markets have diffe-
rent prerequisites when it comes to redu-
cing carbon emissions. The challenges are 
more apparent in the mining and oil and 
gas industries, for example, than in other 
sectors. For an investor like AP3, an easy 
and quick way to reduce the portfolio’s car-
bon footprint would be to refrain from 
investing – or to sell our investments – in 
these sectors. However, we do not believe 
that abstaining from responsibility is the 
most effective solution.

 Instead, we try to influence investees to 
embrace positive change through active 
stewardship and engagement. This is pri-
marily about convincing companies to 
measure their carbon footprint and then 
adapt their operating activities to reduce it. 
In 2016 AP3 wrote to more than 100 of the 
world’s ”dirtiest” companies (those with 
the highest carbon emissions) urging them 
to embrace change. 

Absolute 
carbon 

footprint  
(m tonnes  CO

2)

CO2intensity 
in relation to 

market capitalisation  
(m tonnes CO

2e/SEK m)

CO2intensity  
in relation to 

revenue   
(m tonnes CO

2e /SEK m)

AP3 vs. 
benchmark 

index, 
MSCI ACWI

2014 1.6 17.1 25.3 -27%

2015 1.4 12.2 18.5 -44%

2016 1.2 10.2 15.9 -47%

2014 – 2016 -25% -41% -37%

“In 2016 AP3 took a series 
of investment decisions  
that we expect will have  
a positive impact on the 
carbon footprint”
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I N V EST M E N T ST R AT EGY A N D O B J EC T I V ES – E VA LUAT I O N | AP3

Systematicperformancereview

The board of directors reviews the Fund’s asset management operations on a continuous basis using an evalu-
ation model in four parts. The methods used are critical to our ability to meet our target of a 4% return over time.

The performance review is conducted over 
an extended period due to the long-term 
nature of our mission. In this context, we 
use a time frame that spans a minimum of 
one business cycle. 

Performance review in four parts:
1. Contribution to the pension system 
– Target of 4% real return     
AP3 measures the portfolio’s target of a 
4% return in real terms over a long-term 
perspective, both since our inception in 
2001 and over rolling 10-year periods. 
We have achieved this target: average real 
return since 2001 stands at 4.4% and 
nominal return at 5.7%.

2. Investment strategy  
The performance review compares AP3’s 
return against the return on a long-term 
static portfolio (LSP) containing a mix 
of listed equities and bonds that is the 
cheapest option to manage.1 The LSP 
has a 50:50 mix of listed equities and 
fixed income securities, is rebalanced on 
a monthly basis and has no transaction 

costs. Its investment strategy requires no 
specialist asset management expertise and 
is geared to achieving a 4% real return 
over time. 

We benchmark portfolio returns 
against the LSP to determine whether the 
extra resources we invest to achieve a more 
advanced investment strategy have deliv-
ered results. In 2016 our return was SEK 
6.4 billion higher than the return on the 
LSP (9.4% compared to 7.1% for the 
LSP). Our investment strategy has outper-
formed the LSP by 17.8 percentage points 
since the LSP was introduced in 2012, 
which corresponds to a gain of SEK 28.2 
billion for the pension system.  

3. Cost-effectiveness
AP3 is tasked with achieving an interna-
tionally high standard of asset manage-
ment, and we measure our performance 
against an international benchmark 
group of innovative and successful invest-
ment managers. The external consulting 
firm CEM Benchmarking has  identified 
a group of funds with a similar profile 

to AP3 in terms of their mandate, assets 
under management and target returns. In 
2015, research by CEM found our costs 
to be 35% lower than the average fund in 
this international peer group.2 Between 
2011 and 2015, the peer group recorded a 
median annual return of 8.0%, compared 
to 8.4% for AP3 after expenses.

4. Self-assessment of allocation 
 decisions
The fourth part of the performance model 
is a self-assessment of the quality of AP3’s 
investment management process and cov-
ers analysis, strategy and  implementation, 
as well as the sustainability strategy and 
goals for 2018. This self-assessment 
 enables the board of directors and man-
agement to monitor the asset management 
team’s ability to assess financial market 
trends correctly and enables us to develop 
areas in which we can build and improve. 
The self-assessment is a core element of 
our internal strategic process.

AP3 Total Index management Value added by AP3’s  
investment strategy

Strategicallocation Tacticalallocation

Investmenthorizon Long/medium Medium/short Long

Decision-maker Board of directors, 
CEO and CIO  

(dynamic decisions)

Portfolio manager Single board decision
(mechanical rebalancing)

Assets Liquidandilliquid
assets

Equities, fixed income, 
credits, inflation and 

currencies

Liquid assets

Absolute return 
strategies

Liquid assets

Index

Before expenses Afterexpenses

Return 2016  9.2% 0.3% 9.5% 7.14% 2.4 percentage 
points

2.3 percentage 
points

Return 2016, SEK bn 27.5 0.8 28.3 21.6 6.7 6.4

Return since 1 Jan 2012 65.2% 3.3% 68.5% 50.1% 18.4% 17.8%

Return since 1 Jan 2012, SEK bn 133.5 5.5 139.3 109.5 29.8 28.2

Breakdown of AP3’s asset management vs. index management

1)Benchmarkmanagementexpensesconservativelysetat0.00%.
2)Figuresfor2016notyetavailable.
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Chalk and cheese, but low costs
The costs of managing and administering pensions are coming under 
increasing scrutiny because they can have a significant impact on pen-
sion capital. Costs vary widely between different pension solutions, and 
although comparisons do not paint an accurate picture they can still be 
of value.   

It is natural that pension management and 
administration come at a price. It costs 
money to collect contributions,  manage 
pension assets and pay out pensions. Asset 
management costs are often the largest 
 single cost. Sweden’s state income  pension 
system has relatively low management 
costs. This is due to a variety of factors, 
including the fact that the AP funds’ assets 
account for only 14% of the total capi-
tal in the system. Also, the AP funds are 
cost-effective in their asset management: 
on average, the funds’ internal operating 
and external management costs are 0.15% 
of portfolio value. This is what it costs the 
funds to manage highly diversified port-
folios with multiple types of listed and 
unlisted assets.    

Costs of the AP funds and Swedish  
Pensions Agency
Costs that are deducted from pension assets 
are known as administration costs and 

relate directly to the way the system oper-
ates. They include the AP funds’ operating 
costs, the Swedish Pension Agency’s costs 
for administering pensions and the pension 
administration costs of government agen-
cies including the Swedish Tax Agency.1 
In 2015 AP1, AP2, AP3, AP4 and AP6 
had combined costs of SEK 913 million. 
Administration costs totalled SEK 704 mil-
lion, giving a total of SEK 1.6 billion. This 
sum equates to 0.03% of average pension 
rights and is deducted annually from total 
pension system capital.

An example  
An easy shorthand way to calculate the 
amount lost to costs is to deduct the fees 
that accrue during the average time that 
a pension payment remains in the  system 
before being paid out as a pension.2 The 
Swedish Pensions Agency measures this 
period for the state income pension at 21 
years and for the premium pension at 33 

years.3 The longer period for premium 
pensions reflects the fact that fees continue 
to be payable while the individual’s pen-
sion pot is being paid out.  

Low income pension system costs
The state income pension is the solution 
with the lowest cost ratio – 0.03%. The 
total cost deducted during the assumed 
time frame prior to disbursement is less 
than 1%. In other words, pensioners retain 
99% of the value of their pensions after all 
costs have been subtracted. These figures 
reflect the system’s design and its low asset 
management and administration costs. 

They can be compared to an assumed 
premium pension cost of 0.3%, which 
reduces the pension pot by 9% prior to 
disbursement. In other words, the indi-
vidual would retain only 91% of his or 
her premium pension pot after fees. The 
rate of return becomes more important if 
asset management costs are higher. Were 
a pension saver to buy a pension  charging 
a management fee of 1% a year, his or her 
pot would fall to 72% of its full value. 
Costs in this case would eat up more than 
a quarter of the capital. 

AP3  | COSTS

1) AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 finance all the administration costs of the income pension.
2) 1-(cost)ⁿ where n=average time.
3) Orange Report 2015.

99% 91%

9% 28%

The effect of costs on pension capital

100%

Management cost 0.3%Management cost 0.03%
State income pension

Management cost 1%

 Pension assets               Cost

72%

1%
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Benchmarking for enhanced cost-effectiveness
Since 2005, AP3 has taken part in 
an annual benchmarking study by 
the Canadian consulting firm CEM 
Benchmarking that examines our 
cost base and cost-effectiveness. 

The study compares AP3’s costs with those 
of 18 international pension funds of similar 
size, investment profile and asset manage-
ment operations. CEM Benchmarking 
examines total asset management costs, the 
value of assets under management, the port-
folio mix and the ratio of internal to exter-
nal management. 

The most recent CEM study, conducted 
in 2015, showed AP3’s expenses to be 35% 
lower than the benchmark group average. 
This was largely because AP3 pays less for 
its external mandates than the benchmark 
group and also because it has a higher ratio 
of internally managed assets.  

AP3’s costs lower than the largest 
 pension funds
CEM also benchmarked AP3 against some 
of the world’s largest funds to establish how 
our asset management performs at this  level 
and to ascertain if we are missing out on the 
economies of scale that some large funds 
enjoy. The median fund in the benchmark 
group was around four times larger than 
AP3 and the biggest fund had assets total-
ling SEK 4,000 billion. Despite these sub-
stantial differences in fund size, the results 

showed AP3’s costs to be 22% lower than 
the benchmark group average.

Cost-efficiency in collaboration with  
the AP funds
Parliament’s decision to approve the estab-
lishment of four separate and  independent 
buffer funds – AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 – 
laid the foundations for an effective and 
healthy competitive framework between 
the four funds and has produced cost-ef-
fective asset management. By  diversifying 
the funds, Parliament also avoided an 
 excessive concentration of financial power 
in the hands of a single  institution. How-
ever, the funds are free to work together in 
areas that do not infringe their  autonomy 
or competitive status in order to save money 
and utilise  resources effectively. 

Since 2007, AP3 has worked closely with 
AP1, AP2 and AP4 on screening listed equi-
ties and engaging with investees on social 
and environmental responsibility. The AP 
funds’ Ethical Council is the vehicle for this 
collaboration. 

During the year, the AP funds sought 
to further cement their cost-efficiency and 
strengthen mutual ties by setting up a colla-
boration advisory board, an initiative head-
ed by the funds’ administrative managers. 
The funds have collaborated closely for many 
years at administrative and control level and 
in these contexts share knowledge and dis-
cuss definitions and potential avenues for 
further collaboration.

 COSTS | AP3
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AP3’s costs compared to CEM benchmark group 2005 – 2015
Indexed costs, 2005 = 100

AP funds’ collaborative groups

CEO meetings

Administrative manager 
group   

 Coordinating function
Ethical Council Accounting group

Risk & performance group Legal group Human resources  
manager group

Communications  
manager group Business control IT manager group
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AP3  | EMPLOYEES

We are proactive in seeking to provide a 
pleasant and challenging environment in 
which our employees can constantly devel-
op and grow. Diversity and specialist exper-
tise have a high priority in a recruitment 
context. 

Skills development a priority  
AP3 works proactively to ensure that our 
people have the skills they need. Annual 
performance appraisals for all staff  identify 
areas for development for the coming year 
and set targets for employee and employer 
alike. Employees take part in internal skills 
briefings, listen to presentations by  external 
guest speakers at the AP3 Academy and 
attend training courses, seminars and con-

ferences to ensure we are always building 
and expanding our knowledge base. We also 
offer new challenges internally within the 
organisation. 

Diversity and equality  
Diversity and equality are critical to AP3’s 
ability to reach our short- and long-term 
goals. As an employer, we are proactive in 
these areas. 

Some 63% (67) of AP3 employees are 
male and 37% (33) are female. During the 
first six months of 2016 we had an asylum- 
seeker as an intern, an initiative we took at 
a time when public sector employers were 
being asked to play a part in welcoming and 
integrating refugees from Syria. 

Our people – the key to success
AP3 is a knowledge-intensive organisation for which the combined expertise and experience of our employees  
is performance-critical. It is therefore vital that we are an attractive employer with the ability to attract the  
right people. Continuous training for employees is central when it comes to reaching our ambitious targets. AP3 
offers a stimulating and professional work environment that sets high standards and prioritises  personal responsi-
bility and employee versatility.

How does AP3 work?
The majority of AP3 employees work 
in asset management and busi-
ness support, covering areas includ-
ing analysis, asset management, risk 
management and investment admin-
istration. Three individuals work in 
corporate functions. On average, our 
employees have over 20 years’ pro-
fessional experience and 79% hold a 
university degree.
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EMPLOYEES | AP3

AP3 strives constantly to help male and 
female employees to combine work and 
family commitments by offering flexible 
working hours and other mechanisms aimed 
at establishing a good work-life balance.

Employee survey
Since 2005, AP3 has carried out employee 
surveys at regular intervals. These have been 
and remain an important development tool. 
The most recent survey was in 2016 and we 
entrusted it to a new external  consultant in 
order to measure staff attitudes in a new way.   

The overall result was excellent. The sur-
vey found that our employees are proud of 
the job they do and of AP3’s role. They see 
their work as meaningful and stimulating 
and regard their colleagues as mutually sup-
portive. The feedback was that AP3 is an 
employer that promotes and respects diversi-
ty and fosters an environment where people 
look after each other. 

Various areas were identified for im - 
prove  ment and activities are planned in the 
hope of achieving even better results in the 
next survey. 

Health and safety 
AP3 employees are accustomed to intensive 
days and it is important that the Fund as an 
employer focuses on the long-term health of 
all staff members. We offer all employees reg-
ular health checks and an exercise subs idy, 
and we aim to offer a good work environ-
ment in which all employees feel content 
and secure. Management works to create a 
positive business culture in which any short-
comings are identified and addressed at an 
early stage. We have clear guidelines to deal 
with discrimination, harassment, bullying or 
abusive behaviour. 

Core values and ethical principles
Managing the pension assets of the  Swedish 
people is an important public role in which 
trust is vital. Strong ethical principles and 
solid values are necessary throughout the 
Fund, based on our employees upholding 
high standards of personal and professional 
integrity. AP3 has an internal code of con-
duct that sets out ethical standards for all 
employees. Alongside the code of conduct 
are the core values of AP3 and the  Swedish 
government, which serve as important 
 pillars both inside and outside the Fund.

We have a reporting system for cases 
of ethical non-compliance. All employees 
are encouraged to contact the Compliance 
Officer if they suspect any wrongdoing or 
infringements of our guidelines. Matters can 
be notified anonymously. The Compliance 
Officer is tasked with investigating all cases 
and reporting directly to the board of direc-
tors and CEO.  

 Read more about AP3’s employees on  
page 34
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PRINCIPAL CIVIL SOCIETY

INVESTORS

MEDIA

Parliament 
Government

Government agencies
Academia
Stakeholder organisations
Students
Public

Pension funds in Sweden
Pension funds outside 
Sweden 
Other investors

PENSIONERS

Representatives of 
beneficiaries (pensioner 
organisations)
Pension savers – employers 
and unions

AP3's most important stakeholder dialogues  
AP3's investment activities and investees have an impact on people, society 
and planet. Effective dialogue is key to understanding our stakeholders' 
expectations.

We have identified our primary  stakeholder 
groups as our principals (namely,  Parliament 
and the government), the pensioners of 
today and tomorrow, government agencies, 
civil society, the media, academia and other 
asset managers. These groups significantly 
impact – or are impacted by – AP3's invest-
ing activities.

AP3's stakeholder dialogues  
AP3's role of managing the capital buffer  
of the Swedish people carries with it a 
responsibility to engage in dialogue and 
take a leading role in the debate about the 
Swedish pension system, the role of the 
AP funds and investments and investment 
rules. We tailor these dialogues according 
to need and target group, both on a day-to-
day basis, at strategic level and in our exter-
nal reporting. Stakeholder dialogue is a key 
tool when it comes to developing our role 
and practices. 

AP3 aimes to be open and accessible. It 
should be easy for external parties to obtain 
information about our activities and to con-
tact us. We are proactive in meeting stake-
holders, we participate in debates, and we 
engage constantly with investors and poli-
ticians at national and regional level. AP3 
also engages with stakeholders through the 
AP funds' Ethical Council, which main-
tains a high level of contact with investees 
and hosts seminars on sustainability-related 
issues. 

Dialogues in 2016
During the year AP3 had a number of key 
dialogues with our stakeholder groups. We 
engaged in systematic dialogue on issues 
relating to sustainability with representa-
tives of our principals, beneficiaries, gov-
ernment agencies, academia, the media, 
employers and trade unions and other 
investment funds. We selected our speaking 

partners on the basis of their expertise, their 
prominence in public debate and their rele-
vance to AP3.

Our overall impression from these con-
tacts was that stakeholders are aware of our 
proactive approach to sustainability prac-
tices and that we are leaders in this field 
inter nationally. Our principal regards 
sustain ability as important, provided that 
it remains compatible with our top priority 
of achieving high investment returns over 
time. Representatives of pensioner groups 
view transparency and high standards of 
business ethics as paramount. Representa-
tives of the academic community are confi-
dent that AP3's standards of responsibility 
are as high as they can be given the limi-
tations imposed by the Fund's investment 
rules, but that there is room for improve-
ment when it comes to tackling social chal-
lenges in areas where AP3 invests.  

 
 Read more about dialogue with employers 
and trade unions on page 20

Media 
Opinion formers

AP3  | MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS | AP3

During the year AP3 performed a materiality analysis to identify the sus-
tainable development issues seen by stakeholders as the most important 
facing the Fund. This analysis provides the framework for our sustainability 
practices and reporting. 

The material issues for us are those that 
 matter most to our stakeholders, and for this 
reason the materiality  analysis took a out-
side-in approach focused on  stakeholders' 
expectations. Based on an extensive market 
analysis, AP3 began the process by internally 
identifying and evaluating our highest-im-
portance sustainability aspects, both internal 
and external. We then engaged in dialogue 
with external stakeholders to hear their views 
on these aspects. 

The materiality analysis highlighted the 
highest-importance areas as follows:

1  Long-term return
2   Business ethics and regulatory 

 compliance
3  Anti-corruption
4  Active governance
5  Climate

There is a high degree of convergence 
between stakeholders' priorities and those of 
AP3 when it comes to sustainability. Other 
high-importance issues are human rights, 
labour practices, corporate stewardship and 
strategic sustainable investments. AP3 has 
elected to integrate sustainability report-
ing with the annual report because many 
high-importance issues pertain to our core 
investment activities.

 Our mission – to ensure the value of 
the Swedish state pension by generating 
strong returns over time – is a high-im-
portance area and reflects the task given 
to us by the Swedish Parliament. Tak-
ing a long-term approach to investment 
involves generating returns that benefit 
current and future pensioners. 

 Business ethics and regulatory compli-
ance is another priority area. AP3 does 
not accept bribes or corruption. We are 
heavily regulated, which demands that 

we follow clear processes to ensure com-
pliance and that we report any deviations.

 Stakeholders attach great importance to 
anti-corruption. AP3 has a long tradi-
tion of working against corruption, and 
responsible stewardship is an integral 
part of our mission. We conduct proac-
tive dialogue on anti-corruption in col-
laboration with the Ethical Council.

 Active governance is a key issue and stake-
holders attach considerable  importance 
to sustainable asset management and sus-
tainable asset allocation. AP3 has pursued 
sustainable asset management for a num-
ber of years and we have fully integrated 
sustainability practices into our invest-
ment process. 

 Climate change is an area that  stakeholders 
regard as highly important. AP3 aims to 
be a role model in this field by engaging 
actively, by reducing the port folio's car-
bon footprint and by investing in green 
bonds.

1. Long term return – read more on p. 21

2. Business ethics and regulatory compliance – read more on p. 23

3. Anti-corruption – read more on p. 23

4. Active governance – read more on p. 24

5. Climate – read more on p. 25

6. Integration of sustainability practices in asset management

7. Human rights

8. Labour conditions

9. Strategic sustainable investments

10. Stranded assets

11. Transparency

12. Equality and diversity 

13. Water

14. Tax

15. Policy changes

16. Integration of sustainability practices in asset allocation 

17. Direct climate impactModerate Significant

Im
po

rt
an

ce
 to

 st
ak

eh
ol

de
rs

Importance to AP3

M
od

er
at

e
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

123
4

5
7

10

1217

16
11

13

14
15

8
6

9

Our most important stakeholder dialogues

The materiality analysis summarises what stakeholders and AP3 regard as the Fund's most important sustainability priorities.  
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AP3  | MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

Dialogue with employers and trade unions  

Swedish pension savers – or taxpaying employees – are 
one of AP3's most important stakeholder groups. As part 
of the materiality analysis, we organised a workshop 
with employers and trade unions to discuss our current 
and future sustainability practices. The workshop 
resulted in many important insights and perspectives.    

The representatives – from the Confederation of Swedish Enterprise, 
the Swedish Trade Union Confederation, the Swedish Confedera-
tion of Professional Associations, the Swedish Confederation of Pro-
fessional Employees, the Swedish Council for Negotiation and 
Cooperation and the Public Employees' Negotiation Council – 
shared a strong desire to protect the interests of pensioners. The 
 dialogue covered four areas and the participants explained their 
views on AP3's approach to sustainability and discussed challenges 
and opportunities. They also gave feedback on pre-defined key sus-
tainability issues and discussed ways for AP3 to improve the inte-
gration of sustainability practices in our day-to-day activities. 

View of AP3's sustainability practices
The employer and trade union representatives saw AP3 as proactive 
in sustainability and deemed our sustainability practices to be meas-

ured and forward-thinking. They stressed that their members expect 
the AP funds to be strongly committed to sustainability, notwith-
standing their mission of delivering strong investment returns over 
time. The AP funds' sustainability profile plays an integral role in 
how Sweden is seen internationally and it is important that the funds 
act as role models in this field. Representatives of employers and 
trade unions said there was room for AP3 to improve how it commu-
nicates its sustainability practices. They also point out that stake-
holders sometimes find it difficult to distinguish between the 
sustainable initiatives and practices of the different AP funds.

Lessons for the future  
The participants agreed that the AP funds were good at integrating 
environmental aspects in their asset management, but suggested 
they could be better at proactively promoting social responsibility 
and measuring performance, particularly on working conditions. 

AP3 took away various key messages from the workshop and we 
will use the feedback to continue to improve our social responsibility 
and to work towards introducing more goals. Another area where we 
can improve is in the way we communicate our sustainability-related 
work to our key stakeholders. The most important lesson, however, is 
to monitor how our actions impact on the pensions of today and 
tomorrow.
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VALUE CREATION IN 2016 | AP3

1  Sustainable investments for long-term returns
Taking a long-term approach to investment means generating returns that benefit current and future pensioners. 

Prudent investment choices, strong govern-
ance and integrated sustainability are the 
keys to generating high returns at a low level 
of risk. AP3 took a number of important 
steps in this direction in 2016. 

Sustainability is a core part of our invest-
ment philosophy and is essential for generat-
ing long-term returns. This is why we make 

strategic sustainability-related investments 
across different asset categories. These invest-
ments all share something in  common: they 
seek to tackle climate change. They include 
investments in timberland, real estate and 
water.

 Timberland – long-term growth

AP3 owned 220,000 hectares of forest land as at 31 December 2016. 
Our timberland holdings are certified by the Forest Stewardship Council 
(FSC), which guarantees that they are managed sustainably. 

The AP3 timberland portfolio is impor-
tant for reducing our carbon footprint 
and climate impact because forests store 
carbon dioxide. Thanks to the timber-
land portfolio, our entire portfolio was 
carbon-neutral when we first measured 
the carbon footprint of the listed equity 
portfolio in December 2014. IWC, an 
international timberland company, esti-

mates that our forests contain 45 million 
tonnes of sequestered carbon dioxide. If 
we consider the CO2 stored by biomass 
below ground, the amount is even higher. 

Bergvik Skog is AP3's largest single 
timberland holding and in 2004 became 
our first investment in this sector. Today 
we own 5% of the company. Aside from 
extensive forest holdings in Sweden and 

Latvia, Bergvik Skog also promotes the 
development of wind farms on its Swed-
ish holdings, either through proprietary 
projects or third-party concessions. 

In 2016 AP3 made a further timber-
land investment commitment by  acquiring 
a holding in an unlisted fund   targeting 
forest projects in Australia and New 
 Zealand. Timberland accounts for 1.75% 
of our portfolio holdings.

 Read more about our sustainability goals 
on page 11

AP3's strategic sustainable 
investments cover asset categories 
such as timberland, real estate, 
water and green bonds.
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1) Carbon Disclosure Project.
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  Real estate – constant value creation  
AP3's large real estate portfolio is a pillar of the Swedish property 
 market.    

The portfolio includes Vasakronan, the 
country's largest real estate company; a 
majority stake in Hemsö, which owns prop-
erties used for education, healthcare and 
elderly care; and majority holdings in two 
smaller companies – Trophi and Regio – 
which focus on regional property markets. 

In late 2015 AP3 signed a joint  venture 
agreement with Balder to form a new com-
pany, Trenum, to invest in  Swedish resi-
dential real estate. AP3 has helped to 
found and build two companies from the 
bottom up: Trophi, which specialises in 
retail property, and Regio, an owner of 
regional office and retail space.

Our large equity holdings in these 
companies put us in an excellent position 
to have input on strategy and governance. 
In this context, we have worked with other 
shareholders to develop the companies' 
sustainable development policies. All our 
directly owned real estate investees are tak-
ing active steps to reduce energy consump-
tion and increase their use of renewable 

energy. Vasakronan, in which AP3 owns 
a 25% holding, is one of the top Scandi-
navian real estate companies for sustain-
ability and was a leader in installing solar 
energy in its properties.

AP3 saw further progress in key areas 
in 2016 to strengthen sustainability within 
the real estate portfolio. At the start of the 
year, Trophi completed a comprehensive 
sustainability review that deepened our 
understanding internally about the stra-
tegic steps that are required to move for-
ward in sustainability. The newly founded 
Trenum launched a sustainability pro-
gramme in conjunction with Balder, whose 
approach in this field fits closely with that 
of AP3. Trenum's new residential construc-
tion will be green buildings that run on 
renewable energy from sustainable sources 
and use environmental, resource-efficient 
materials and have reduced waste outputs. 

 Read more about our sustainability goals 
on page 11

   Water – a vital asset
AP3's goal is to double our strategic sustainable investments by the end of 2018. Investments in water treat-
ment play an important part in achieving this objective. In 2016 we completed two investments in industrial 
water treatment with a combined value of more than SEK 1 billion.  

The World Economic Forum classifies water 
as one of the most serious sustainability risks 
worldwide. A reliable global supply of clean 
water and sanitation is essential for people, 
industry, agriculture and energy production. 
Not only that, water plays a critical role in sus-
tainable development. Growing water scarcity 
could raise the risk of conflicts between sec-
tors and regions. The climate change debate 
has focused on fossil fuels, carbon footprint 
and how the Paris agreement – the two-degree 
limit – will be achieved, but access to clean 
water is also essential for the transition to a 
 fossil-fuel-free society. CDP's1  water study in 
2016 showed almost one quarter of companies 

surveyed were dependent on water to reduce 
their carbon emissions. Using water more effi-
ciently reduces energy use, and hence also 
greenhouse gas emissions.

If water access is limited relative to need, it 
is important that the water is reusable and not 
hazardous to human health or the  environment. 
Effective water treatment is thus critical in 
multiple ways. In 2016 AP3 invested SEK 1.3 
billion in water and water treatment as part of 
our drive to double our strategic  sustainable 
investments, and we aim to make further 
investments in this area in the coming years.  

 Read more about our sustainability goals on 
page 11
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3   Anti-corruption always in focus
AP3's principles are built on the core values of the Swedish govern-
ment, for which democracy – equal worth, the freedom and dignity of 
all individuals, and sustainable development – are cornerstones. AP3's 
core values are based on the international conventions signed by 
Sweden (including agreements on the environment, human rights, 
labour protection, corruption and inhumane weapons).

We do not accept bribes or corruption in any company in which 
we invest. However, it is difficult to invest in companies or sectors 
in which corruption does not exist, and for this reason we channel 
our anti-corruption efforts primarily through the Ethical Council's 
 preventive projects.  

Corruption ruins the world  
Anti-corruption is and remains a key issue for the Ethical  Council 
because corruption undermines legitimacy and economic sustainabil-
ity, distorts competition and can destroy value. The Ethical  Council 
engages with a large number of investees, and virtually all of its 
 projects have an anti-corruption dimension. 

The council has for some years hosted and participated in vari-
ous anti-corruption projects, many under the aegis of the UN PRI. 
For example, it has participated in a project with 34 investors with 

 combined assets of more than USD 2,700 billion under manage-
ment. Dialogue with these companies was successful, and a number 
demonstrated improved anti-corruption practices, including a big 
improvement in transparency.

The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) brings 
together governments, companies and non-governmental organisa-
tions to improve transparency in mining and other extractive indus-
tries. EITI has played a long-term role in spotlighting transactions at 
national level so that companies which mine natural resources report 
their payments to governments in terms of royalties and taxes and the 
governments report their income. Ideally, the figures then match. The 
aim is to improve governance through transparency and thus reduce 
corruption, poverty and armed conflict.

Tackling corruption is a challenge and AP3 remains committed  
to engaging with investees on various fronts to encourage anti- 
corruption measures. 

  Read more at www.etikradet.se

2  Business ethics and regulatory compliance
AP3 has a long tradition of observing sound business ethics and complying with regulatory frameworks. We take 
these issues very seriously in terms of both our own operations and also those of our investees as we believe that 
companies which are responsible and well-managed offer superior returns over time.    

Strong ethical principles and solid values are necessary throughout 
our organisation. The conduct of the individual employee sets the 
tone and provides the foundation, and in this context we have a code 
of conduct that sets out internal ethical guidelines. The core values of 
AP3 and the Swedish government are other important pillars. Busi-
ness ethics and regulatory compliance are also paramount for inves-
tees. We work on the assumption that the companies in which we 
invest comply with the laws and regulations of the countries in which 
they operate.  It is the responsibility of an entity's board of directors 
to ensure that adequate processes and control systems are in place to 
ensure this. 

Advisory group for enhanced risk management
AP3 continuously screens the portfolio to identify companies that 
fall short of the standards we expect. During the year we set up an 
internal sustainability advisory group in which AP3 fund managers 
meet to discuss sustainability risks identified in our holdings. The 
group discusses and analyses investees and sectors that exhibit spe-
cific sustainability risks. The managers also share knowledge to ena-
ble more efficient management of identified risks. Much of AP3's 
engagement vis-à-vis foreign investees takes place through the AP 

funds' Ethical Council. The process of incorporating sustainability 
in our investment decisions has raised awareness of our key sustain-
ability parameters, and this knowledge has in turn led to improved 
risk management and created scope for new investment opportuni-
ties. The sustainability advisory group plays a key role in enabling us 
to retain and share knowledge, while also serving as another internal 
control function that over time can help us to further improve the 
way we identify sustainability risks. 

Successful engagement via the Ethical Council 
AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 work together on environmental and social 
governance at foreign investees via their joint Ethical Council. Colla-
boration gives us a stronger voice and greater influence in this arena. 
The Ethical Council takes both a proactive and reactive approach to 
drive positive change in portfolio companies and business sectors. 
In 2017 the council celebrates its 10th anniversary of developing the 
approaches, principles and processes that have made it a role model 
within the investment industry.

 Read more in the AP3 corporate stewardship report at www.ap3.se 
and at www.etikradet.se 
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4  Stewardship is pivotal to value creation
At AP3 we base corporate governance on three elements – engagement, 
action and positive change. With the help of these elements, we seek to 
deliver high-returns at a low level of risk over time. As an institutional inves-
tor with a major presence in the Swedish equity market, we can engage 
proactively and urge companies to embrace positive change. Corporate 
stewardship is a core element in the investment process.  

Strategy based on ownership  
and principles
AP3 has a diversified portfolio of investments 
in more than 3,000 equities worldwide. We 
have elected to focus our stewards hip on 
areas where we can achieve maximum 
impact, notably in Swedish investees (where 
our shareholdings are largest). Our Swedish 
equity portfolio consists of only 150 compa-
nies, but together they account for a large 
part of our portfolio. 

Our stewardship of foreign  companies 
is usually in close collaboration with other 
investors and channelled primarily via the 
AP funds' Ethical Council. In 2016 the 

 Ethical Council engaged with investees 
worldwide on human rights, environmental 
protection, corruption and similar matters.

AP3 engages in most governance matters, 
and in all cases we base our interventions on 
a sustainable development perspective and 
ethical principles. Issues of key importance 
to us in this context include remuneration 
system structure and diversity on corporate 
boards.  

A process that takes time
Our governance practices are founded 
on the AP3 corporate stewardship policy, 
which is approved by the board of direc-

tors and revised as and when necessary. The 
stewardship policy incorporates the Fund's 
basic corporate governance principles and 
our approach to environmental, social and 
corporate governance. 

Effective engagement means using a 
variety of methods and tools. These include 
exercising our right to vote and speak at 
company general meetings, to hold seats on 
nomination committees and to engage in 
dialogue. Sometimes the impact is  readily 
apparent, for instance when investors act 
to make changes at board level. But often 
the process takes time. AP3 has a long track 
record of working with other investors to 
moderate the remuneration of senior execu-
tives and to achieve greater gender parity on 
company boards. 

 Read more about corporate governance 
and the AP3 stewardship policy at ap3.se

Active governance is AP3's method for promoting long-term sustainability practices and influencing portfolio 
companies to move in the right direction.   

 
Engagement

Action

Positive change
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“In the long run, this will benefit the 
companies that AP3 invests in”

5  Green bonds: 

From pioneer to leading investor
AP3's investments in green bonds are a natural result of our desire to invest in instruments that offer long-term 
sustainability. We became a green bond pioneer in 2007 when we made our first purchase in this asset class. Since 
then, our investments have increased steadily and now stand at more than SEK 9.5 billion.

Climate change may have a major impact 
on the long-term returns on many assets and 
AP3 seeks to offset the financial risks that 
will arise from the transition to a low-carbon 
economy while also capturing the opportu-
nities that will arise for companies involved 
in making that transition. Current regula-
tions require us to hold at least 30% of our 
assets in tradable fixed income securities. 
These regulations and our desire to invest 
for the long term have led us to invest inten-
sively in green bonds.

The capital raised by green bonds pro-
vides long-term financing for numerous pro-
jects in the climate and environmental field. 
All seek to limit the effects of climate change 
and to help companies to adapt to changing 
climate realities. In the long run, green bond 

investments will benefit the companies that 
AP3 invests in.

Vasakronan – Sweden's largest issuer  
of green bonds
Real estate accounts for close to 40% of 
energy use in Sweden. It is natural for Vasa-
kronan, as Sweden's largest real estate com-
pany, to want to reduce the energy load of 
its properties. The company finances much 
of its effort in this area with green bonds. 
Capital raised by green bond issues is ear-
marked for new construction and redevel-
opment projects, all of which are built to 
high environmental standards. Examples of 
environmental initiatives that  Vasakronan 
has funded with green bonds include energy- 
efficiency through enhanced in  sulation, 

needs-controlled heating and ventilation, 
and energy-efficient lighting. Other projects 
include installation of water metering to 
reduce consumption, charging bays for elec-
tric cars, and solar panel installation for pro-
prietary electricity generation. 

Working closely with its tenants, Vasa-
kronan has reduced energy use by 50% 
since 2009. By supplying its properties with 
renewable or climate-neutral energy, the 
company has reduced its carbon emissions 
by 100%. AP3's investments in  Vasakronan's 
green bonds have helped the company to 
become more sustainable and profitable over 
time while creating a positive impact on the 
environment and climate.

VALUE CREATION IN 2016 | AP3

Green bonds  

The world's first green bond was issued in 
2007, since when the market has grown 
rapidly. 2016 was no exception. Initially, 
green bond issues were largely confined 
to national and multilateral organisations 
such as the European Investment Bank, the 
Nordic Investment Bank and the African 
Investment Bank. But over time the issuer 
base has expanded to include cities, munic-
ipalities, regional councils and companies 
worldwide. Apple issued its first green bond 
in 2016. 

Governments have also begun to seek 
green capital to manage the transition to a 
low carbon economy, with Poland issuing the 
world's first green government bond in late 
2016. More countries are expected to follow 
suit in the future. 

Growing popularity in key markets
The green bond market grew strongly during 
the year, both in terms of issues and issuers. 
EUR 75 billion of green bonds were issued, 
with large issues in China and India under-

lining the growing prominence of green bonds 
in major emerging markets. The growth in 
green bonds during the year merely confirmed 
what AP3 has known for a long time: that 
green bonds have a bright future.

 Read more about the Paris Green Bond 
statement at www.ap3.se

Green bond holdings 
doubled to SEK bn

9.5
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Government body
AP3 is a state pension fund that differs 
from other government bodies in its auton-
omy from central government. The Fund’s 
operations are almost entirely regulated by 
statute and the government has waived its 
regulatory oversight. However, AP3 is sub-
ject to a variety of internal and external 
rules and frameworks. The most important 
of these are presented above.   

Board of directors
The AP3 board has nine members, all 
appointed by the government. Two direc-
tors are appointed from nominees of 
employee organisations and a further two 
from nominees of employer organisations. 
The government appoints the chairman and 
deputy chairman from its own nominees. 

The government’s Policy for Governance 
and Evaluation of the AP funds stipulates 
that no director may hold board member-
ship for more than eight years. 

Board administration
The National Pension Insurance Funds Act 
gives the board of directors full and collec-
tive responsibility for AP3’s administration, 
within the parameters set by Parliament 
for the Fund’s organisation and the man-
agement of its assets. Board responsibilities 
and activities not prescribed by statute are 
set out in the board’s work plan, which is 
approved annually by the directors.

The National Pension Insurance Funds 

Act also requires the board to approve an 
annual operating plan. The operating plan 
must contain guidelines for investing activ-
ities and for exercising AP3’s voting rights 
in portfolio companies. It must also con-
tain a risk management plan. Beyond this, 
the board’s primary tasks are to set operat-
ing targets, to recruit and monitor the per-
formance of the CEO, to manage strategic 
documents and to make decisions on overall 
Fund strategy, including risk  levels, expo-
sure and risk thresholds, results of opera-
tions, budget approval and monitoring, and 
resource allocation. 

At every board meeting the directors 
discuss current allocations and any poten-
tial changes between risk categories.

Effective control and monitoring are 
necessary to ensure that board decisions 
are implemented, that risk management is 
effectual and that the Fund operates in an 
appropriate manner. The risk management 
plan sets the framework for control and 
compliance.

The board has the task of approving the 
corporate stewardship policy and managing 
other governance issues such as the Fund’s 
focus areas prior to each AGM season. Day-
to-day decisions and actions are the respon-
sibility of the CEO, though any decisions to 
exclude a company from the Fund’s invest-
ment universe are taken by the board. 

The CEO and other AP3 employees also 
attend board meetings as experts or in a 
reporting capacity. The board reviews the 

CEO’s performance annually. The CEO 
does not attend these discussions.

Review of the board of directors
The board of directors conducts an annu-
al review of its own performance. The 2016 
review took place in the spring of 2017 
and was based on the results of prior years’ 
reviews, which were carried out by external 
consultants.  

Board committees
The board of directors has two committees: 
the remuneration committee and the audit 
committee. 

The remuneration committee is tasked 
with ensuring that salaries and other remu-
neration are market-based, competitive, 
appropriate and reasonable. The committee 
oversees and monitors the implementation 
of government guidelines for senior manag-
ers at the AP funds, reviews the CEO’s sala-
ry and benefits and approves the salary and 
benefits of senior executives on the basis of 
recommendations by the CEO. The remu-
neration committee also prepares the remu-
neration framework for other employees on 
behalf of the board and evaluates the Fund’s 
performance-based remuneration system.

In 2016 the remuneration  committee 
members were Pär Nuder (chairman), Lars 
Ernsäter and Peter Hellberg. The CEO 
serves as a co-opted member in all issues not 
relating to her personal remuneration. 

The audit committee has a financial 

Fund governance report 2016
The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance requires Swedish listed companies to publish a governance report. 
The code also sets best practice standards for other companies and organisations active in the Swedish market. 
This fund governance report was prepared in conformity with the Annual Accounts Act and relevant provisions of 
the code.  

Significant external and internal rules and frameworks affecting AP3’s administration
•	 National	Pension	Insurance	Funds	Act	
•	 AP3’s	governance	framework
•	 Policy	on	Governance	and	Evaluation	of	the	AP	funds	including	 

government	remuneration	guidelines
•	 Accounting	and	valuation	policies	of	the	AP	funds

•	 Administrative	Procedure	Act
•	 Freedom	of	information
•	 Public	Procurement	Act	
•	 Swedish	Code	of	Corporate	Governance
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Governance of AP3
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reporting advisory and oversight role on 
behalf of the board and also monitors the 
audit process. The Fund’s auditors attend 
the audit committee meetings at which the 
final audit and audit management are dis-
cussed. The audit committee also moni-
tors the efficacy of internal control and risk 
management. This involves preparing pro-
posals for the board to approve on the risk 
management plan, follow-up of the annu-
al operational risk evaluation, contacts with 
external consultants on internal audit pro-
cesses, and oversight to ensure that any 
deficiencies that emerge are corrected. The 
audit committee also acts to ensure the 
impartiality and independence of the audi-
tors. In 2016 the committee members were 
Björn Börjesson (chairman), Inga-Lill Carl-
berg and Sonat Burman-Olsson, who was 
replaced during the period by Kerstin Lind-
berg Göransson.   

Remuneration of directors
The government sets the fees and other 
remuneration payable to directors. Board 
fees are SEK 100,000 per year for the 
Chairman, SEK 75,000 for the Deputy 
Chairman and SEK 50,000 for other direc-
tors. These fees have remained unchanged 
since 2000. The government also has an 
annual fund of SEK 100,000 to remu-
nerate directors for committee work and 
other assignments. In 2016, the board used 
this fund to pay fees of SEK 26,520 to the 

chairman of the audit committee and SEK 
21,520 to other audit committee members, 
and fees of SEK 10,300 to all remunera-
tion committee members (including the 
chairman). 

Board administration in 2016
The board held six scheduled meetings dur-
ing the year, one of which was an  extended 
session to discuss strategic issues. In addi-
tion to finalising the annual accounts, 
budget, operating plan and risk manage-
ment plan, the board’s work in 2016 
included:

Return targets
Against the background of returns in recent 
years and projections for returns going for-
ward, the board of directors held in-depth 
discussions during the year on whether 
there was cause to revise the Fund’s long-
term target of a 4% real return.

Allocation decisions
At each board meeting the directors discuss 
the Fund’s overall risk level and individu-
al risk bands for each risk category. Deci-
sions are based on macroeconomic analysis, 
valuations and investors’ risk appetite. The 
board delegates to the CEO the implemen-
tation and management of the  portfolio 
within the allocated risk bands, and the 
CEO reports back to the board at its next 
meeting.

Portfolio construction
Improving the Fund’s portfolio construc-
tion is a continuous process. AP3 aims to 
achieve a portfolio with an optimum level 
of diversification across different risk cate-
gories within the parameters set by current 
investment rules. In 2016 the board focused 
on the scope for expanding and broadening 
allocations to real estate and for widening 
the insurance risk mandate. 

Risk  
An understanding of different types of risk 
and the effective implementation of mech-
anisms to control them are vital to AP3 in 
its investment operations. During the year, 
the board discussed overall portfolio risk 
and the equity weight. At its strategy meet-
ing, the board discussed the targets and 
risks relating to these, as well as future risk 
scenarios and the use of asset protection 
strategies. 

The board also considered specific risks, 
including risk in the Swedish real estate 
market and project risk in infrastructure 
investments. AP3 annually reviews the 
Fund’s total risk, identifying and measur-
ing risk in all parts of the organisation with 
a view to taking action where appropriate. 
This analysis is based on self-assessments 
conducted internally throughout the organ-
isation. The Fund also annually evaluates 
the risks attached to its main counterpar-
ties. Risk assessments are discussed by the 
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audit committee and the board of directors.

Sustainability
The directors discuss sustainability 
 practices, including corporate governance, 
at each board meeting. The board reviews 
the Fund’s ongoing engagements in the 
sustainability field on the basis of a pres-
entation by the CEO and listens to special 
presentations on the Fund’s own sustaina-
bility practices. 

The board also handles strategy and pol-
icy issues as well as the Fund’s external 
sustainability reporting, including the cor-
porate stewardship report and the Ethical 
Council’s annual report. The board also dis-
cusses more company-specific issues in this 
field, and in 2016 topics included events at 
Swedbank that were the subject of media 
coverage and resulted in significant changes 
to the bank’s management and the appoint-
ment of a new chairman. In Sweden, the 
board also noted the ongoing debate about 
board structure and gender diversity and 
the introduction by many companies of 
individual director elections. 

At international level, the Fund con-
tinued to highlight its key points of view 
on corporate governance: that compa-
nies should separate the role of CEO and 
chairman of the board, limit the scope of 
excessive share options programmes, and 
establish a link between share-based incen-
tive programmes and clear and measurable 
performance criteria. 

Sustainability goals in asset management
The Fund worked proactively in making 
investments linked to the four  sustainability 
goals and continued to integrate sustaina-
bility in the asset management process 

and to report on progress in this area. The 
Fund now includes within its sustainability 
sphere all portfolio companies that the AP3 
board has either excluded from the Fund’s 
investment universe or that have been sold 
on sustainability grounds (negative selec-
tion). The board also received information 
about the Fund’s positive selection process 
and discussed efforts to measure and limit 
the portfolio’s carbon footprint. The board 
discussed human rights and, acting on a 
recommendation from the Ethical Coun-
cil, excluded two investees from the Fund’s 
investment universe. One was a  mining 
company and the other had links with 
the nuclear weapons industry. The board 
also rescinded the exclusion of two former 
investees.

Asset management costs
Cost-effectiveness in asset management is 
always high on the agenda at both manage-
ment and board level. Costs are also 
ad dressed in the government’s review of 
the AP funds and in the official response 
to this review issued by the Parliamentary 
Committee on Finance. The board evalu-
ates cost- efficiency on a quarterly and annu-
al basis and also approves and monitors the 
budget. 

The board receives a yearly report on 
the peer group study performed by CEM 
Benchmarking, in which AP3 has parti-
cipated for a number of years. The CEM 
study compares AP3 with 18 global fund 
managers of equivalent size based in Fin-
land, the Netherlands, the US, Canada, the 
UK, Australia and New Zeeland and with 
average funds under management of SEK 
309 billion. The most recent CEM study, 
from 2015, showed AP3’s expenses to be 

35% lower than the benchmark group aver-
age. This was largely because AP3 pays less 
for its external mandates than the bench-
mark group and also because it has a higher 
ratio of internally managed assets. In 2015, 
AP3 also decided to compare the Fund 
against the 20 largest funds in CEM’s uni-
verse. These funds have an average size of 
SEK 1,207 billion and the largest manag-
es assets of SEK 4,387 billion. CEM found 
AP3’s costs to be 22% lower than the aver-
age for this group of funds.  

External auditors
AP3’s auditors are appointed by the govern-
ment, which selected PwC as auditor after 
a public procurement process. The audi-
tors are Sussanne Sundvall and Peter Nils-
son. Sussanne Sundvall is also responsible 
for coordinating the audit process between 
the AP funds.

The auditors’ work includes reviewing 
AP3’s operating activities, including inter-
nal control, administration, annual finan-
cial statements and accounting records. 
They express an opinion on the  accounting 
records and the administration based on 
their audit. Their mandate also includes 
verifying that AP3 follows the accounting 
and valuation policies agreed jointly by the 
AP funds and that the accounting records 
give a true and fair view of AP3’s operating 
activities. 

The auditors report orally to the board a 
minimum of once a year and submit writ-
ten reports on their audit of the annu-
al financial statements and management 
audit. The auditors normally meet the audit 
committee twice a year. They are responsi-
ble for reviewing compliance with govern-
ment regulations on employment terms and 

Board meetings in 2016 Board meetings Remuneration committee Audit committee
Pär	Nuder,	Chairman (6	of	6) Chairman	(2	of	2)
Björn	Börjesson,	Deputy	Chairman (6	of	6) Chairman	(4	of	4)
Malin	Björkmo (joined 2016) (4	of	6)
Sonat	Burman-Olsson	(left 2016) (1	of	2)	 Member	(0	of	1)
Inga-Lill	Carlberg (6	of	6) Member	(3	of	4)
Peter	Englund (5	of	6)
Gunvor	Engström	(left 2016) (2	of	2)
Lars	Ernsäter (6	of	6) Member	(2	of	2)
Kerstin	Lindberg	Göransson	(joined 2016) (3	of	6) Member	(2	of	3)
Peter	Hellberg (6	of	6) Member	(2	of	2)
Elisabet	Unell (6	of	6)

The board held six scheduled meetings during the year. The remuneration committee met on two occasions and audit committee on four occasions.
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conditions for senior managers at the AP 
funds. The auditors report verbally to the 
Ministry of Finance once a year.

Internal control
According to the National Pension Insur
ance Funds Act, the board of directors 
is responsible for AP3’s administration, 
organisation and overall activities. These 
responsibilities include ensuring  effective 
internal control. AP3 has a governance 
framework that defines its fund manage
ment  systems, risk management and 
internal control structure. The board of 
 directors issues general policies and guide
lines that are operationalised via  directives 
from the CEO. All steering documents 
are revised according to a set timetable.

One key document is the risk manage
ment plan, which is approved annually by 
the board and defines the division of respon
sibilities between AP3 staff and depart
ments. The division of responsibilities is 
designed to support the internal control 
structure to ensure internal control remains 
fully autonomous from the rest of the organ
isation. This binary structure is reflected 
in access authorisation to AP3’s systems. 

The Fund’s two control departments 
are Risk Control & Performance, which 
focuses on financial risk, and  Compliance, 

which primarily addresses regulatory com
pliance and operating risk. Risk Control 
& Performance is in charge of  defining, 
identifying, monitoring and controlling 
risks arising from asset management oper
ations. It also identifies and reports any 
deviations from set limits. Limits apply 
at various levels to ensure that AP3 oper
ates within statutory guidelines and the 
rules set by the board and CEO. The CRO 
is responsible for the financial reporting. 

The Compliance department is respon
sible for ensuring that AP3 operates with
in applicable external guidelines and in 
conformity with internal policies, guide
lines and directives. This includes ensuring 
that the organisation is aware of rele
vant rules and applying them throughout 
the organisation, an area of responsi
bility that extends to the monitoring of 
identified action plans relating to AP3’s 
annual review of operational risk. 

Analysis and control are based on trans
parent daily reporting of positions, risk 
and financial results. Management reports 
monthly to the board (and more frequent
ly if required). Any breach of legal lim
its or limits set by the board is reported 
immediately to the board. Other incidents, 
including infringements of internal lim
its, are reported to the audit committee. 

Signific ant incidents must be report
ed to the board as soon as they occur. 
The Compliance Officer and CRO both 
report directly to the board if necessary.

Internal audit
The board tasks the audit committee with 
organising an annual internal audit pro
gramme, which is outsourced to external 
parties selected by AP3 following a public 
procurement process. The task of internal 
audit is to control and evaluate AP3’s gov
ernance systems and internal control, pro
cesses and practices to ensure that they are 
effective and appropriate and conform to 
the guidelines set by the board. Complet
ed internal audits are examined by the audit 
committee and reported to the board. 

In 2016 Actsec carried out specific 
checks to verify the efficacy of AP3’s IT and 
physical security and concluded that the 
Fund had a good structure in both respects. 
Actsec identified a few areas for improve
ment, which AP3 subsequently addressed. 
The Fund also conducted a public procure
ment process for internal audit services in 
cooperation with AP1, AP2 and AP4. 

Legal limits
AP3 breached no legal limits during the 
course of 2016.

Government review for 2015

Every year the government reviews the 
performance of the AP funds. The most 
recent review, for the 2015 financial year, 
noted that the AP funds had achieved 
an average annual return of 5.4% since 
inception. The income index, which is 
used to keep Swedish pension system lia
bilities in line with inflation, rose by 
3.0% per annum during this time frame, 
meaning that the funds made a positive 
contribution to the longterm financing 
of the state income pension system dur
ing the period in question.

In 2015, the AP funds – which at the 
start of the year accounted for 14% of 
the assets of the income pension system 
– paid out SEK 21 billion to finance the 

deficit in the system’s payment flows. The 
AP funds’ costs rose by SEK 147 million 
during the year, but remained unchanged 
as a proportion of fund capital at 0.15%.

The government is positive to AP1, 
AP2, AP3 and AP4 focusing on long
term targets and continuing to develop 
their asset management models in dif
ferent directions, seeing this approach as 
a means to wider risk diversification. A 
detailed analysis of the funds’ risk man
agement, control and regulatory compli
ance practices noted significant progress 
in these areas, and the review stressed the 
importance of continued positive devel
opment. The review also pinpointed sus
tainability as an important part of the 

funds’ work to achieve strong longterm 
investment returns and good risk diversifi
cation, noting the importance of sustain
ability practices for public confidence in 
the pension system. The government said 
it was important that the AP funds con
tinued to develop a shared carbon foot
print standard not just for equities but for 
other financial instruments as well, and 
that the funds should continue engag
ing with their investees to drive progress 
in this area. 

The government also proposed that 
the AP funds should have a third line of 
defence in terms of an internal audit, as 
well as separate risk organisations.
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Board of directors

Pär Nuder, Chairman  
Elected to the AP3 board in 2011
Industrial	consultant
Chairman	of	AMF	Pension,	Hemsö	and	Öbergs	Färghus.	
Director	of	Beijerinvest,	Fabege,	IP-Only,	Skistar	and	Fårö	
Bergman	Centre	Foundation.
Previously	Minister	of	Finance,	Minister	for	Policy	Coordi-
nation,	Member	of	Parliament,	Under-secretary	of	State	
in	the	Prime	Minister’s	Office,	Chairman	of	Vasallen	and	
Director	of	Vin	&	Sprit.
LLB.	Year	of	birth	1963.

Björn Börjesson, Deputy Chairman
Elected to the AP3 board in 2011
Deputy	Chairman	of	Swedfund
International	and	director	of	Åke	Wiberg	Foundation,	Eu-
roclear	Sweden,	Euroclear	Finland,	Ahlströmska	Stiftelsen,	
SVCA’s	Oversight	Committee	and	Credit	Director	at	Cordet	
Capital	Partners.
Previously:	Executive	Vice	President	Handelsbanken.		
LLB.	Year	of	birth	1951.

Malin Björkmo
Elected to the AP3 board in 2016
Corporate	governance	and	financial	regulatory	advisor	
Director	of	Nuclear	Waste	Fund,	Handelsbanken	Fonder	
and	Falck	Försäkring	AB.	Deputy	Chairman	of	Insuresec	
Disciplinary	Board.
Previously:	Area	Director	at	Finansinspektionen,	Head	of	
State	Ownership	Department	at	Government	Offices,	CEO	
at	Storebrand	Liv	Sweden,	Head	of	Asset	Management	at	
Skandia	Liv.
Lic.	Econ,	Stockholm	School	of	Economics.	Year	of	birth	1962.

Inga-Lill Carlberg  
Elected to the AP3 board in 2009
Vice	President	Nordea	Retail	Banking	Sweden
Director	of	Stiftelsen	för	Finansforskning.
Previously:	Head	of	Nordea	Private	Banking	Sweden,	Head	
of	Nordea	Investment	Management.
BSc,	Stockholm	School	of	Economics.	Year	of	birth	1962.

Peter Englund 
Elected to the AP3 board in 2013
Professor	at	Stockholm	School	of	Economics
Director	at	Wenner-Grenstiftelserna	and	Member	of	Swed-
ish	Fiscal	Policy	Council.
Previously:	Professor	at	Uppsala	University	and	University	
of	Amsterdam.
PhD,	Stockholm	School	of	Economics.	Year	of	birth	1950.

Lars Ernsäter
Elected to the AP3 board in 2010
Economist	at	Swedish	Trade	Union	Confederation	
Previously:	National	Institute	of	Economic	Research.	
University	studies.	Year	of	birth	1951.

Kerstin Lindberg Göransson
Elected to the AP3 board in 2016
CEO	Akademiska	Hus
Director	of	Jernhusen,	Chairman	of	the	Board	K2	National	
Knowledge	Centre	for	Public	Transport.
Previously:	Director	of	Arlanda	Airport,	Finance	Director	
and	Deputy	CEO	of	Scandic	Group,	Chairman	of	Svensk	Bil-
provning,	Director	at	Grand	Hotel,	Swegon,	OEM,	Strömma	
Sjöfart	and	Turism	AB.	
BSc.	Year	of	birth	1956.

Peter Hellberg
Elected to the AP3 board in 2010
First	Deputy	Chairman	Unionen
Deputy	Chairman	of	TCO,	director	of	Unionen’s	mem-
bership	insurance	board,	Klara	Norra	Fastigheter	and	
the	Council	for	Negotiation	and	Cooperation	Education	
Foundation.
University	studies.	Year	of	birth	1966.

Elisabeth Unell 
Elected to the AP3 board in 2012
Opposition	leader	on	Västerås	City	Council	
Director	of	SKL	and	Västerås	Marknad	&	Näringsliv.
Previously:	Chairman	of	Västerås	Municipal	Executive	
Committee	and	Aroseken.	
MPhil,	BSc.	Year	of	birth	1962.
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Executive management

Lil Larås Lindgren 
Head of Communications  
Joined AP3 in February 2014
Previously:	Senior	communications	positions	at	Attendo,	Hemfrid,	Swedish	Travel	
and	Tourism	Council,	Ericsson,	Tetra	Pak	and	Philipson	Bil	and	communications	
consulting.		
Degrees	from	RMI	Berghs	and	Uppsala	University.	Year	of	birth	1962.	

 Kerstin Hessius 
CEO
Joined AP3 in September 2004
Other	assignments:	Director	of	Vasakronan,	Hemsö,	Trenum,	Handelsbanken,	
Svedab	and	Öresundskonsortiet.
Previously:	CEO	of	Stockholmsbörsen,	Deputy	Governor	of	the	Swedish	Central	
Bank,	CEO	of	Östgöta	Enskilda	Bank	Asset	Management,	Nordic	Head	of	Fixed	
Income	Alfred	Berg,	CEO	of	Alfred	Berg	Transferator.
BSc.	Year	of	birth	1958.

Mårten Lindeborg 
Deputy CEO and CIO
Joined AP3 in February 2009
Other	assignments:	Director	of	Regio.
Previously:	Head	of	Asset	Management,	Head	of	Strategic	Allocation	AP3,	and	
DNB	and	Skandia.	
BSc.	Year	of	birth	1971.	

Mattias Bylund
CFO and CRO
Joined AP3 in August 2002
Other	assignments:	Alternate	Director	at	Ellevio.
Previously:	AP3	Head	of	External	Management	and	Quantitative	Analyst.	
MSc.	Year	of	birth	1977.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  31

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT | AP3

Eng_26_32_v11.indd   31 2017-04-20   17:51



32  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2016

26.5
SEK	bn	paid	by	AP1,	AP2,	AP3	
and	AP4	to	cover	the	pension	

system	deficit	in	2016

15%
	of	pension	system	assets	held	by	

AP	funds

AP3  | FUND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Eng_26_32_v11.indd   32 2017-04-20   17:51



ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  33

A D M I N I ST R AT I O N R E P O RT |AP3

Administration report 2016
RESULTS IN 2016
Net profit was SEK 27,981 million 
(19,643), representing a return of 9.5% 
(6.9) before expenses and 9.4% (6.8) 
after expenses. Fund capital stood at SEK 
324,375 million (303,031) at year-end, up 
by SEK 21,344 million from the prior year.

During the year AP3 made a net pay-
ment of SEK 6,637 million (4,944) to the 
pension system. Since 2009 the Fund has 
paid SEK 36,556 million to the Swedish 
Pensions Agency to help cover the deficit 
between pension contributions and dis-
bursements and the agency's administra-
tive costs.

INCOME 
Income after commission expenses was 
SEK 28,167 million (19,836) and consisted 
primarily of realised and unrealised changes 
in the value of financial assets, which are 
measured at fair value on the reporting 
date. Other income consisted of net inter-
est income, dividends received and net cur-
rency income. Changes in foreign exchange 
rates, reflecting a depreciation of the krona 

against the US dollar and other leading cur-
rencies, had a strongly positive impact of 
SEK 3,373 million (3,811) on income. The 
weaker krona also had an impact on costs 
due to the fact that a large portion of AP3's 
expenses are in foreign currency. 

Commission expenses totalled SEK 
180 million (170) and are recognised as a 
deduction from income because they are 
directly attributable to the cost of acquiring 
income. They comprised fixed management 
fees for external mandates, fund manage-
ment fees, custody account fees and costs 
of holding collateral during clearing. Com-
mission expenses totalled 0.06% (0.06) of 
average fund capital.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses totalled SEK 186 mil-
lion (192), a decrease of some 3% due 
largely to lower costs of external services. 
Staff costs accounted for SEK 121 mil-
lion (115) of operating expenses. Operat-
ing expenses were 0.06%  (0.06) of average 
fund capital.  

RETURN IN 2016  
The AP3 portfolio delivered an over-
all return of 9.5% (6.9) before expenses 
and 9.4% (6.8) after expenses. Real return 
(adjusted for inflation) was 7.6% (6.7). 
Inflation rose sharply at the end of the 
period and totalled 1.7% for the year. AP3 
has a long-term target of an average annual 
real return of 4%. In the last 10 years the 
Fund has achieved an average annual real 
return of 4.6%. The average annual nom-
inal return for this period stands at 5.7%, 
which is higher than the 2.9% increase in 
the income index (which is the benchmark 
used to keep pension entitlements in line 
with inflation). Hence, AP3 has both made 
a positive contribution to the pension sys-
tem and outperformed its long-term target 
for real return.

Change in fund capital

SEK m 2016 2015 

Fund capital at 1 Jan 303,031 288,332

Pension contributions 64,174 61,373

Pension disbursements -70,595 -66,142

Administration fee to Swedish Pensions Agency -216 -176

Net profit 27,981 19,643

Total fund capital at 31 Dec 324,375 303,031

Asset management expense ratio

SEK m 2016 2015 

Commission expenses, SEK m 180 170

Operating expenses, SEK m 186 192

Asset management cost ratio,1 % 0.12 0.12

Operating cost ratio, % 0.06 0.06

1)  Based on total commission and operating expenses as a percentage of average fund 
capital.
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Communications

Asset Management 

Deputy CEO and CIO

Portfolio Strategy

Business ControlBeta Management

Finance and Reporting

Alpha Management

IT and Administration

Alternative Investments

Risk & Return Analysis

External Management Legal Affairs

Human Resources

Compliance Officer

Business Support &  

Control CFO and CRO1

Board of Directors

CEO

1) The CRO reports directly to the board of directors

Organisation and remuneration structure   

At year-end, AP3 had 57 (51) employees, 
of whom 21 were female and 36 were male. 
The average number of employees was 55 
(54). AP3 employees have, on average, 21 
years of professional experience. Three indi-
viduals left the Fund in 2016 and nine 
new employees joined. Sickness absence 
remained low at 1.2% (0.8).

Skills and remuneration
Efficient asset management is predicated 
on the Fund's ability to attract and retain 
skilled personnel. Reasonable and appro-
priate remuneration is one of the factors 
that help to make an attractive workplace. 
AP3 follows the government's guidelines 
for employment conditions for AP fund 
employees. The guidelines state that remu-
neration should be competitive without 
being market-leading.

The chairman of the remuneration com-
mittee handles remuneration issues on be- 
half of the board of directors. The board sets 
the remuneration of the CEO and the remu-
neration committee approves the remuner-
ation and benefits of senior managers based 
on the CEO's recommendations. The board 
also sets the remuneration framework for 
other employees.

The remuneration committee uses annual 
market-based wage data to ensure that remu-
neration of all employees is market-based, 
competitive, reasonable and appropriate. 
Remuneration consists of a fixed basic sal-
ary, performance-based variable pay (except 
for executive management), pension and 
benefits. The board approves the variable 
remuneration programme in accordance 
with the government's guidelines. The pro-
gramme covers all AP3 employees bar the 
CEO and other members of executive man-
agement. The programme gives all employ-
ees in the asset management department 
the opportunity to earn a maximum of two 
months' salary as a bonus. Other employees 
can earn a maximum of half a month's sal-
ary as a bonus. Bonuses only become paya-
ble if the Fund reports a positive net result.

As in the past, AP3 participated in the 
Towers Watson annual market  remuneration 
survey in order to benchmark the salaries 
of Fund staff against other financial  market 
personnel in the private and public sector. 
By taking part in the survey every year, the 
Fund seeks to ensure that its salary levels 
remain in line with the government's guide-
lines.

The survey covers eight organisations 
and all data are sourced from the Willis 
Towers Watson database. The survey cate-
gorises each position based on level, func-
tion and discipline and benchmarks it 
against different variables. Each role at AP3 
is compared with up to 215 relevant roles.

In 2016 the benchmark group consisted 
of Alecta, AMF Pension, AFA Försäkring, 
Länsförsäkringar, SEB, Skandia, Swedbank 
and Kammarkollegiet. 

The survey showed that the majority of 
AP3 personnel receive remuneration at or 
around the benchmark group median level. 
The board of directors concludes that the 
pay structure and remuneration levels for the 
CEO, senior managers and all employees are 
market-based, competitive without leading 
the market, and reasonable and appropriate. 
The board also takes the view that the Fund 
complies with government pay guidelines 
and that no exceptions exist which require 
separate reporting. The AP funds have a 
joint policy for staff-related benefits. This 
can be downloaded from the AP3 website.
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Market overview

Growth and inflation
The start of the year was characterised by 
weakness on financial markets and soft 
commodity prices. By mid-February, 
world equity markets were down by more 
than 10% and US long-term bond yields 
had fallen by over 0.5%. This trend con-
tinued the theme from the end of 2015: 
weak bond markets, and emerging-market 
equity prices resulting from the US Fed-
eral Reserve taking the unusual approach 
of raising interest rates despite low infla-
tion due to falling commodity and energy 
prices. There was also concern among 
investors over how the weakness of the 
Chinese yuan would affect financial sta-
bility.

Given the added uncertainty of the 
Brexit referendum and US presidential 
election and the year as a whole must be 
judged as an economic and financial suc-
cess. Economic activity remained at about 
the same level as in 2015, which trans-
lated into global growth of just under 3% 
and inflation of 2.5% – a performance that 
exceeded financial market expectations. 
There were, however, regional disparities. 
The eurozone surprised many analysts by 
posting growth of 1.5%, which was above 
many analysts' expectations. The US econ-
omy also grew by 1.5%. China was again 
the global economic engine.

Central banks and politics in the spotlight
Once again, central banks responded to 
initial market weakness with strong stim-
ulus measures. Each of the main cen-
tral banks exceeded market expectations 
on this front. The Federal Reserve quickly 
took several steps back in its plan to raise 
interest rates, which pushed US bond yields 
lower and took the edge off the dollar's 
strength. The ECB committed to a pro-
gramme of increased bond purchases and, 
in a considerable surprise to the market, 
extended it to corporate bonds. The Bank 
of Japan set interest rates at below zero 
and continued to make large purchases 
of shares on the Tokyo stock exchange. 
China's encouragement of a looser credit 
regime, which began in the autumn of 
2015, provided a supportive environment 
for major infrastructure projects. In Swe-
den, the Riksbank cut the repo rate to 
-0.50% in early February.

Overall, these measures amounted to a 
massive monetary expansion that quickly 
stabilised the fixed income market and 
paved the way for it to perform strongly 
during the rest of the year. Elsewhere, a 
drop-off could be seen in monetary policy 
impact, with currencies no longer reacting 
as instinctively as before. This led to major 
miscalculations by Japan and the euro-
zone, whose currencies rose rather than 
fell in the first six months. The krona also 

experienced a period of strength in Febru-
ary after the repo rate cut. 

At the end of June the UK voted in a 
referendum to leave the EU and Brexit 
became a fact, on paper at least. Central 
banks – and not just the Bank of England 
– reacted to what many had painted as a 
nightmare scenario with a further loosen-
ing of monetary policy.

The next political surprise came in the 
form of Donald Trump's victory in the 
US presidential election. In the wake of 
the result, central banks did not need to 
take new measures because the market 
was prepared. The Italian "no" to constitu-
tional change in December further jarred 
the market, but there were no immediate 
adverse effects.

Markets
The "bad news" recorded during the year 
had no lasting negative consequences for 
the financial markets. A combination of 
looser monetary policy and growth of close 
to 3% in the global economy in real terms 
(and more than 5% in nominal terms) set 
the tone. Neither the equity nor the bond 
markets had discounted such a stable eco-
nomic trajectory. Towards year-end, the 
markets began to reassess their forecasts for 
economic growth in favour of a more posi-
tive outlook. 

The main result of this was seen in the 
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Equity market returns in local currency incl. 
dividends in 2016

Fixed income markets in 2016 Currencies versus the Swedish krona in 2016

After a very weak start to 2016, with sharp falls 
in all markets, equities rebounded in the second 
half of the year. By year-end, virtually all equity 
markets were in positive territory for the 12 
months as a whole.

Bond and fixed income markets performed 
strongly in the first half of the year but retreated 
during the second half amid fears of rising 
inflation.

Most currencies appreciated against the krona 
in 2016. Sterling was a rare exception, losing a 
tenth of its value against the Swedish currency.
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Exposure and risk management
In the interests of effective asset management and risk control, AP3 divides 
its investments into six risk categories: equities, fixed income, credits, infla-
tion, currencies and absolute return strategies. The exposures to each risk 
category lay the foundation for risk control and asset management.

This approach provides an effective structure 
for analysing and projecting future returns 
and risk for different assets with similar risk 
profiles. These projections, combined with 
macroeconomic analysis, valuations and 
assessments of investors' risk appetite, form 
the basis for asset allocation. Exposure is 
defined as underlying value that is exposed 
to changes in value arising due to market 

movements. AP3 uses derivatives to man-
age risk and bring greater efficiency to asset 
management. The use of derivatives allows 
exposure to be greater or less than total 
fund capital. Exposure at year-end totalled 
109.1% (108.1%) of fund capital. Total 
portfolio risk is expressed using the value 
at risk1 (VaR) metric. A VaR with a 95% 
confidence level indicates a 95% probabil-

ity that the daily negative change in port-
folio value will not exceed the measured 
amount. As at 31 December 2016, VaR for 
the total portfolio stood at SEK 1,484 mil-
lion (2,232). See Note 20 for further details. 
Equities were the main source of invest-
ment exposure and also the primary con-
tributor to portfolio risk. The currencies and 
fixed income risk categories showed negative 
covariance with equity risk, which restricted 
the overall level of portfolio risk. The diver-
sification strategy that AP3 deploys between 
asset classes and geographic markets also 
helped to reduce overall portfolio risk dur-
ing the year.

Return per risk category
All risk categories generated positive returns and contributed to the overall 
return of 9.5% before expenses. The equities, inflation and currencies  
risk categories were the main contributors to return. The Fund's active 
management strategies and strategic and tactical decisions generated a 
return that exceeded the benchmark long-term static portfolio (LSP) by   
2.4 percentage points.

Equities
Equities consist of investments in shares 
that are both listed and unlisted. Equity 
exposure in 2016 varied from a minimum 
of 45% to a maximum 52% of fund capital. 

The year began with falls on equity mar-
kets, particularly in emerging economies, 
and although markets stabilised to a degree 
during the second quarter, it was not until 
the second half of the year that a concerted 

recovery took hold. By year-end, all equity 
markets except Japan had posted gains 
for the year (in local currency terms). For 
AP3, equities delivered a return of 8.1% 
(3.4) and contributed 3.8 (1.9)  percentage 
points to total return. In local currency 
terms, the North American2 stock  market 
perfor med best, with a return of 11.4%, 
followed by emerging markets3 with 9.7% 
and the Swedish4 equity market with 9.2%. 

The  Japanese5 stock market fell 0.7%. The 
MSCI All Country World Index rose by 
9%. 

The private equity market continued 
to perform strongly and recorded a faster 
inflow of new capital in 2016. However, 
distributions to investors fell by more than 
10% after several years of sharp increases. 
Private equity fund investments also 
decreased by 10%, pushing the available 
capital for investment to a new record high. 
AP3 has been an investor in private equity 
funds since 2001 and has a mature and 
diversified portfolio. AP3's private equity 
assets posted a return of 11.0% (18.6) for 
the year including currency effects. Dur-
ing the year a number of attractive private 
equity funds raised capital, and AP3 made 
investment commitments to 10 of these.

1 See Glossary, p. 66
2) MSCI North America Net Index 
3) MSCI EM Net Index

4) OMX Stockholm Benchmark Gross Index
5) MSCI Japan Index

bond market, where long-term yields rose by 
0.50-0.75% after the US presidential elec-
tion. The Federal Reserve also raised interest 
rates at the end of 2016, for only the second 
time since 2008, and the markets moved to 
price in further rises. 

The equity market continued to be cau-
tiously positive during the rest of the year 
and ended 2016 having staged a strong 
recovery from its level in February. The US, 

Sweden and emerging markets were the 
strongest performers in equities in 2016.  
The eurozone and Japan fared somewhat  
less well. 

Here, currencies played a significant role, 
especially in Japan, where the strong yen 
dampened the stock market during the first 
half of the year. Swedish share prices ben-
efited from the continued weakness of the 
krona, a picture that was replicated in the 

UK. Emerging markets and the US followed 
a different pattern in which the dollar set the 
tone. The dollar's appreciation after Trump's 
election victory had little negative impact on 
share prices, though emerging market equi-
ties and currencies lost some of the ground 
they had gained earlier in the year. Trump's 
pledge to protect American jobs by review-
ing the US's global trade agreements also 
had an impact. 
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Fixed income
The fixed income risk category comprises 
government bonds, government-backed 
bonds and supranational bonds. AP3's 
exposure to this risk category decreased 
during the year from 23.0% to 18.6%. 
Holdings consisted primarily of US bonds, 
along with Swedish and UK bonds. Hold-
ings of Australian bonds were divested dur-
ing the year. AP3 has no bond exposures to 
high-debt countries in southern Europe. 
Average duration1 fell sharply, ending the 
year at 1.2 years (5.5). Some 39% (38) of 
fixed income investments were in bonds 
assigned the top AAA rating by Standard & 
Poor's. A total of 98% (91) of fixed income 
investments were in bonds with AAA or AA 
ratings.

The fixed income risk category recorded 
a return of 2.5% (0.8), equating to a contri-
bution of 0.6 percentage points (0.2) to over-
all portfolio return. Falling yields and tac  t ical 
reallocations had a favourable impact on 
return. By comparison, a globally hedged 
fixed income index rose by 0.4% in 2016.

Credits
Credits consist primarily of investment 
grade Swedish mortgage bonds and corpo-
rate bonds.1 They also include secured bank 
loans. Credit exposure rise from 6.5% to 
7.4% during the period, primarily due to 
increased investments in Swedish mortgage 
 bonds and US corporate bonds. The dura-
tion of the credits portfolio was virtually 
unchanged at 3.2 years (3.1). 

Falling credit spreads made a positive 
contribution to the return on the credits 
risk category of 3.8% (1.0), equating to a 
contribution of 0.2 percentage points (0.0) 
to overall return. By comparison, a glob-
ally hedged fixed income index rose by 
4.0% in 2016

Inflation
The inflation risk category includes invest-
ments in timberland, infrastructure, real 
estate (whose weight rose during the year) 
and index-linked bonds.

These assets generated a return of 15.2% 
(14.7), equivalent to a contribution of 3.2 
percentage points (2.6) to overall return. 
Investments in real estate companies and 
funds, including Vasakronan, Hemsö, Trophi 
and Regio, generated a return of 26.7% 
(27.9).2 

Vasakronan, which is owned jointly by 
AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4, noted continued 
strong demand for office and retail space. 
This led to growth in rental income and 
higher occupancy levels. AP3's investment in 
Hemsö recorded a return of 32%, lifted by 
the company's very strong operating results. 
The company continued to invest in project 
management, including in Huddinge. AP3's 
wholly owned property subsidiary Trophi 
continued to expand its portfolio of retail 
properties and at year-end its real estate hold-
ings were valued at SEK 11.3 billion. Regio, 
which was established in 2015 and in which 
AP3 has an 80% equity stake, also grew by 
acquisition and by year-end had a real estate 
portfolio worth SEK 3.1 billion. 

AP3 also made investment  commitments 
to three infrastructure funds, including an 
industrial water treatment fund and an 
 Oceania-based timberland fund. Returns  
on infrastructure and timberland were 7.8% 
(6.2)2 and 9.8% (17.1) respectively. By com-
parison, a globally hedged fixed income index 
rose by 8.7% in 2016. 

  
Currencies
The currencies risk category comprises  
AP3's exposure to changes in foreign 
exchange rates against the Swedish krona. 
These exposures relate to investments in 

foreign assets not hedged in Swedish kronor 
and in direct currency positions. Currency 
positions are taken to increase returns and 
reduce risk in the total portfolio. 

For the third year running, the krona 
lost ground against most major international 
currencies with the exception of sterling. The 
largest depreciation was a 11.1% fall against 
the Japanese yen. The krona also fell 7.8% 
against the US dollar and by 4.6% and 6.1% 
against the euro and Swiss franc respectively. 
The krona's weakness had financial  benefits 
for the Fund because its investments in for-
eign currency became more valuable in 
domestic currency terms. 

Currencies contributed 1.4 percentage 
points (2.1) to total return. 

Currency risk usually shows a negative 
covariance with equity risk and thus helps 
to diversify the portfolio. At year-end, cur-
rency exposure stood at 17.5% (22.8).

Absolute return strategies
The absolute return strategies risk  category 
covers mandates with an absolute return 
target as well as investments in insurance- 
related bonds and risk premium strategies. 
Return on these strategies in 2016 totalled 
SEK 838 million (78), equivalent to a con-
tribution of 0.3 percentage points (0.0) to 
the total portfolio.  

1) See Glossary, p. 66 
2) As of 2016, Hemsö is included under real estate rather than under infrastructure, as previously. Comparative figures have been adjusted.
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RISK PER CATEGORY

31 Dec 2016

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies

Absolute 
return  

strategies Total AP3
Value at risk, SEK m 1,609 106 41 191 393 224 1,484

Value at risk, % 0.50 0.03 0.01 0.06 0.12 0.07 0.46
Contribution to total risk,  
percentage points 94.2 1.7 -1.3 5.6 -8.2 8.0 100
Realised volatility 12 m, % 13.1 2.7 1.9 6.8 - - 6.2

31 Dec 2015

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies

Absolute
 return  

strategies Total AP3
Value at risk, SEK m 2,075 227 64 252 311 239 2,232

Value at risk, % 0.68 0.07 0.02 0.08 0.10 0.08 0.74
Contribution to total risk,  
percentage points 90.1 -2.4 1.3 10.4 -4.4 5.0 100
Realised volatility 12 m, % 12.8 4.2 3.2 5.6 - - 7.0

RETURN PER RISK CATEGORY

31 Dec 2016

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies

Absolute 
return  

strategies1 Total AP3
Return, % 8.1 2.5 3.8 15.2 - - 9.5

Contribution to total return,  
percentage points 3.8 0.6 0.2 3.2 1.4 0.3 9.5
Share of total return, % 39.7 6.5 2.3 33.6 15.1 2.9 100

31 Dec 2015

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies

Absolute 
return  

strategies1 Total AP3
Return, % 3.4 0.8 1.0 14.7 - - 6.9

Contribution to total return,  
percentage points 1.9 0.2 0.0 2.6 2.1 0.0 6.9
Share of total return, % 28.2 3.4 0.7 37.5 30.0 0.4 100

EXPOSURE PER RISK CATEGORY

31 Dec 2016

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies1

Absolute
 return  

strategies Total AP3
Exposure, SEK m 167,109 60,478 24,080 68,736 56,801 33,352 353,756

Exposure, % 51.5 18.6 7.4 21.2 17.5 10.3 109.1

31 Dec 2015

Equities Fixed income Credits Inflation Currencies1

Absolute 
return  

strategies Total AP3
Exposure, SEK m 153,489 69,735 19,586 60,495 69,033 24,362 327,668

Exposure, % 50.7 23.0 6.5 20.0 22.8 7.4 108.1

1) Absolute return strategies consist of risk mandates to which no capital is allocated and return can therefore not be fairly measured.

1) Currency exposure shows the ratio of assets held in foreign currency and cannot be added to total exposure.
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To ensure effective asset management, the 
Fund uses a decision-making model that 
governs the relationship between return, risk 
and cost. All costs are analysed and carefully 
managed. As of 2005, the Canadian con-
sultancy CEM Benchmarking conducts an 
annual analysis to ensure that AP3's cost- 
efficiency and cost base are commensurate 
with those of other successful international 
pension funds. AP3's cost control initia-
tiv es over the years have enabled the Fund 
to report not only falling costs in relation 
to assets under management but also stable 
operating expenses over time.

Costs arise in different areas and for dif-
ferent reasons and can generally  speaking 
be divided into three categories: internal 
costs that arise from operating activities 
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A large proportion of internal and external costs is invoiced in foreign currencies, especially the US 
dollar. The weakness of the krona has thus increased the currency exposure of these costs.

USD/SEK exchange rate

Expenses
AP3's pursuit of its objective of delivering diversified and cost-effective asset management has led it to achieve high 
risk-adjusted returns at low cost.  

(operating expenses), costs of external asset 
manage ment (commission expenses), and 
costs of buying and selling investment assets 
(transaction costs). The Fund also pays per-
formance-based remuneration for external 
asset management mandates, though this is 
better regarded as profit sharing. 

The key elements in the Fund's cost base 
are the size of fund capital, the chosen asset 
management strategy, the degree of external 
management, asset turnover, and exchange 
rates. Variable commission expenses are 
determined by the return that a specific 
management mandate generates.

Another way to view costs is by the way 
they are broken down in the income state-
ment, which apportions them between 
income and operating expenses.

Cost items recognised in operating 
expenses
Internal costs that arise in conjunction with 
operating activities are recognised under 
operating expenses and consist of staff costs 
and other administrative expenses. These 
totalled SEK 186 million (192) in 2016.

Staff costs accounted for 65% (60) of 
operating expenses and totalled SEK 121 
million (115). The number of employees 
rose from 51 to 57 during the year. The fig-
ure for staff costs reflects the asset manage-
ment strategy, the relationship between 
internally and externally managed assets 
and the skills of Fund employees. In recent 
years, fund capital and skills levels have both 
risen, while the employee headcount has 
remained stable as the Fund has outsourced 
various of its administrative services.

Other administrative expenses were SEK 
65 million (77) and major items under this 
heading were IT and market data costs. The 
fall in costs from the prior year was due to 
lower costs for external services and market 
data. Notwithstanding the drop in market 
data costs in 2016, costs for this item have 
risen in recent years due to lack of compe-
tition among market data providers and 
increased financial services sector regula-
tion. These trends are set to continue. The 
majority of these costs are invoiced in for-
eign currency, which means they are sen-
sitive to changes in exchange rates. The fall 
in the krona in recent years has put upward 
pressure on these costs, but AP3 has been 
able to keep them unchanged through 
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intensive cost-efficiency measures.
Operating expenses relate to pension 

system administration costs. Maintaining 
cost-efficiency in this area remains a pri-
ority.

Cost items recognised in income
Costs directly attributable to the manage-
ment of fund capital are recognised in 
income. They can be divided into two cat-
egories: those recognised as an expense 
under operating income (commission 
expenses) and those that are indirect costs 
expensed directly in income and recognised 
under net profit.

Commission expenses are fees paid for 
external management mandates and costs 
for custody accounts and managing col-
lateral. Most commission expenses arise in 
conjunction with external asset manage-
ment. They are drawn as a percentage of the 
underlying portfolio and thus relate directly 
to the size of the funds under management. 
Exchange rates also have a substantial bear-
ing on commission expenses because the 
vast majority of these are invoiced in foreign 
currency. In 2016, commission expenses 
totalled SEK 180 million (170). The pro-
portion of externally managed assets was 
29% (31) and these were primarily private 
equity and equities in emerging markets, 
North America and Asia. The AP funds are 
required by law to invest a minimum of 

10% of their assets with external manag-
ers. AP3 chooses external managers when 
it believes that external management will 
be more cost-effective than internal man-
agement or when the asset management 
structure is difficult to achieve internally. 
The fact that these costs have increased at 
the same time as the proportion of exter-
nally managed assets has decreased reflects 
the fact that AP3 has chosen more special-
ised external mandates with a larger element 
of active management. Costs arising from 
custody accounts and managing collateral 
totalled SEK 12 million (16). These costs 
relate to the management and storage of 
securities and derivatives. They were lower 
in 2016 than in the prior year because AP3 
succeeded in renegotiating the agreement 
with its custodian bank as part of a joint 
procurement process for custody account 
services with AP2 in 2015.

Performance-based remuneration and 
transaction costs are indirect costs sub-
tracted directly from income.

Performance-based fees for external 
management mandates are a form of prof-
it-sharing between AP3 and the fund man-
ager that occurs only if the fund manager 
meets a pre-defined target. Profit- sharing 
is expensed directly against the returns 
on these investments and is recognised as 
net income from financial transactions in 
the income statement. Performance-based 

remuneration totalled SEK 183 million 
(113) in 2016. The increase was due to high 
returns in some externally managed man-
dates. Costs only arise when AP3 receives 
a positive net return from the fund man-
ager, thereby establishing a direct link to net 
profit. Contracts for some unlisted man-
dates, for instance relating to private equity 
and real estate funds, stipulate that debited 
management fees are part of the asset's cost 
and are subject to repayment.

Transaction costs are expenses that arise 
directly from asset purchases and sales. They 
are added to cost or debited from income. 
In all securities trading, transaction costs 
are the difference between buying and sell-
ing rates. When buying equities,  brokerage 
fees apply. These are recognised separately 
and in 2016 totalled SEK 78 million (98), 
of which 18% (18) arose from external 
management. The decrease in brokerage 
fees from the prior year was due to changes 
in mandates, especially in AP3's European 
asset management, in 2015. The main ori-
gin of these costs is transaction volume. 

None of the above expenses affect the 
cost of administering the Swedish pension 
system; their sole impact is on the return on 
fund capital. Because they arise from AP3's 
assets and management approach, they can 
be characterised to some extent as costs of 
the production of goods. 

Operating and commission expenses 2012 – 2016

AP3's internal costs, or operating expenses, have 
remained more or less flat for the last five years. 
Commission expenses, which are a function of the 
value of assets under external management, have 
risen due to high returns and a larger asset base, 
though they have been falling for a long time as a 
proportion of assets under management.
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Risk is defined as uncertainty over future 
outcomes arising from external events that 
affect the Fund's operating activities. Risk 
management is the process that identifies 
risks and measures and manages their pos-
itive and negative consequences. In other 
words, it is the process that manages the 
Fund's risk and return profile. 

Because risk-taking can generate positive 
and negative outcomes, risks taken must be 
conscious, calculated and within  applicable 
frameworks. Ultimately, AP3 is exposed to 
a risk that the fundamental parameters of 
the pension system will shift, for example 
due to demographic changes. AP3 analyses 
these risks using asset liability management 
(ALM), and the board uses ALM findings 
to set long-term operating targets. 

Operationally, the Fund takes positions 
in financial instruments in order to earn 
returns. This means that fund capital is 
always exposed to financial risk. Diversi-
fying fund capital into different financial 
assets, geographic areas and risk premiums 
– and varying investment time frames – 
enables risk to be limited without compro-
mising potential returns. 

The board of directors monitors total 
risk by setting a risk framework within which 
the asset management team must operate. 
This framework is set out in the risk manage-
ment plan, the document that defines the 
Fund's approach to risk, roles and re sponsi-
bilities, guidelines, frameworks and reporting.

General risk analysis 
AP3 bases effective risk management on 
an annual analysis of overall portfolio risk. 
The analysis report sets a framework for 
identi fying and measuring risk in all areas 
and for making it possible to act to reduce 
risk as and when appropriate. Management 
is responsible for the Fund's risk analysis, 
which is based on self-assessment and 
seeks to promote high risk awareness and 
a prudent approach to risk throughout 
the organisation. The Fund uses the risk 
analysis when drawing up operating and 
resource plans for the coming year. The risk 
analysis report and action plans are sub-
mitted to the audit committee and board of 
directors on an annual basis.

Risk management
AP3's asset management operations expose it to different types of risk. The Fund's core activity involves managing 
financial risk to deliver investment returns and achieve specific targets. 

Risk management  
The CEO and responsible managers in the 
asset management organisation are in charge 
of identifying, analysing and prioritising 
risk, projecting returns and risk, and allo-
cating risk mandates between different asset 
categories and strategies based on the Fund's 
return targets. Risk management is struc-
tured as follows:

 Board of directors  – sets the overall 
risk level and general exposure and risk 
limits for the seven risk categories: equi-
ties, fixed income, credits, inflation, cur-
rencies and absolute return strategies. 

 Audit committee  – has an advisory 
and oversight role on the board's behalf 
in matters relating to financial reporting 
and accounting, internal control, risk 
management and audit. The audit com-
mittee reports directly to the board.  

 Chief Executive Officer (CEO)  – respon-
sible for AP3's day-to-day manage ment 
and compliance with the board's operat-
ing frameworks. The CEO is tasked with 
ensuring good governance of the Fund's 
asset management, risk management, 
risk control and reporting.  

 Chief Investment Officer (CIO)  
– manages risk in the AP3 portfolio and 
delegates day-to-day asset management 
within the frameworks set by the board 
and CEO. Each portfolio manager 
is responsible for managing the risk 
attached to his or her mandate in order 
to achieve targets within specified limits. 

 Chief Risk Officer (CRO)  –  responsible 
for monitoring and reporting of risk 
and return to the board of directors. The 
CRO makes sure that investment deci-
sions are taken in compliance with the 
risk framework set by the board.  

 Risk management committee (RMC)  
– the CEO appoints the members of 
the RMC. The RMC consists of the 
CEO, CRO, CIO, Head of Strategic 
 Allocation, Head of Alternative Invest-
ments, Head of Alfa Management, 
Head of Beta Management, Head of 
External Management and Head of Risk 
Control & Return Analysis. The RMC 
handles issues relating to general risk 

management and risk control on a pre-
paratory basis for the board. The CRO 
chairs the RMC.

Three lines of defence
Day-to-day risk management and  control 
are decentralised and follow the three lines 
of defence principle, which differentiates 
between departments that have primary 
responsibility for risk and regulatory com-
pliance (first line), departments responsible 
for monitoring and control (second line) 
and those tasked with independent over-
sight (third line). Responsibility for the 
first line rests with the investment organisa-
tion, which includes all asset management 
department teams as well as the business 
control unit. Hence, responsibility for risk 
management is borne where the risk arises. 
The control process spans the entire trans-
action flow. Each employee manages risk 
in his or her own area of responsibility. The 
CIO has overall responsibility for the first 
line of defence. 

The second line of defence relates to the 
internal risk control department and com-
pliance department. The former carries out 
checks and monitoring to ensure that the 
risk management framework is adhered to. 
The risk control process makes sure that the 
Fund as a whole and in relevant areas stays 
within stipulated limits and complies with 
applicable restrictions and instructions. The 
department is independent and organisation-
ally separate from the functions that execute 
investment decisions. Ultimate responsibility 
rests with the CRO. 

The third line of defence is internal audit, 
which in AP3's case is subcontracted to an 
external audit firm. The internal auditors 
are appointed by the board of directors via 
the audit committee and are independent 
from AP3 and its investment operations. The 
internal auditors report to the board via the 
audit committee. Every year the audit com-
mittee gives the internal auditors a time- 
specific mandate to examine one or more 
areas of the Fund's operations to establish 
that the relevant departments are meeting 
their risk management responsibilities.
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Mandate compliance
Limits can be expressed as the size of a posi-
tion, value at risk, tracking error or other 
measure relevant to the structure of the 
mandate. They can also be also be expressed 
as consultation levels and sometimes as stop 
loss1 levels to limit the risk of loss on a spe-
cific mandate. The risk control team carries 
out AP3's independent risk control. It iden-
tifies and measures risks and ensures man-
date compliance and that exposure and risk 
remain within approved guidelines and lim-
its. The compliance department is in charge 
of ensuring that the Fund abides by legal 
and ethical rules and regulations.

AP3 categorises risk as follows: 
 Enterprise level risk  – risk relating to 

AP3's mission, objectives and adminis-
tration. 

 Financial risk  –  financial risks arising 
from investing activities. 

 Operating risk  – risks relating to pro-
cesses, systems, human resources, laws 
and regulations . 

A probability and consequence are assigned 
to each risk identified in each category. The 
consequence may be financial, reputational 
or require extra work.

Financial risk and financial risk  
management
Financial risk differs from other risks in 
that it is a necessary part of seeking to 
achieve returns. By contrast, other risks 
must be minimised. Financial risk  consists 
primarily of market, credit and liquidity 
risk.

 

Market risk is the risk that the value of 
an asset may fall due to changes in asset 
prices on the financial markets, for  example 
changes in equity prices, bond prices and 
currencies. It can be shown in absolute or 
relative terms and can be forward- looking 
(ex ante) or backward-looking (ex post). The 
commonest ways of measuring risk include 
volatility,1 value at risk1 (VaR), tracking 
error,1 sensitivity analysis and stress tests. 
AP3 monitors market risk on a daily basis, 
both at general level and for individual man-
dates, using the VaR metric, different types 
of stress test and sensitivity  analysis.  Market 
risk is the main risk attached to the AP3 
portfolio. By managing risk within  specific 
limits, the Fund generates investment 
returns. 

Credit risk is the general risk of incurring a 
loss due to the failure of a counterparty in 
a financial transaction to meet repayment 
obligations. It can be divided into issuer 
risk, counterparty risk and settlement risk.  

Issuer risk is the risk that the issuer of a 
financial security will default and be unable 
to meet repayment obligations on the matu-
rity date. AP3 limits issuer risk by work-
ing within set limits for total credit risk in 
the portfolio. The Fund uses tools such as 
credit ratings to limit the exposure of spe-
cific mandates to specific issuers. The risk 
management committee regularly reviews 
risk relating to specific issuers and groups 
of issuers.  

Counterparty risk is the risk of a party to 
a transaction being unable to fulfil obliga-
tions under a bilateral financial contract 
such as a derivative or currency  transaction, 
deposit or buyback. AP3 actively seeks to 
minimise counterparty risk by  selecting 
counterparties with a good credit rating. 
AP3 also requires counterparties to sign 
ISDA agreements1 with the Fund that reg-
ulate how receivables and liabilities are to 
be managed if either counterparty can no 
longer fulfil its commitments. AP3 also 
insists on CSA agreements,1 which require 
a counterparty with an outstanding liability 
to provide security in cash or securities.

Settlement risk arises when transactions 
are settled but the parties do not fulfil their 
commitments simultaneously. Where pos-
sible, AP3 eliminates delivery risks on cur-
rency transactions through CLS,1 a system 
that permits simultaneous settlement of 
transactions through an independent third 
party.  

Liquidity risk is the risk that AP3  cannot 
make intended or necessary changes to 
the portfolio structure without incurring 
excessive transaction costs (known as roll-
over risk). Generally speaking, the Fund's 
most liquid assets are equities and govern-
ment bonds with a high credit rating. Cor-
porate bonds, unlisted equities and real 
estate are usually less liquid. AP3  manages 
liquidity risk via a balanced mix of asset 
types with both high and low liquidity. 
For refinancing risk, the Fund monitors 
future payment obligations versus available 
liquidity to minimise the risk of excessive 
financing costs.

1) See Glossary, p. 66
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Income statement

Income statement

INCOME

SEK m Note 2016 2015

Net interest income             2 773 1,559

Dividends received 5,509 4,644

Net income from listed shares and investments 3 9,811 4,418

Net income from unlisted shares and investments 4 6,110 6,636

Net income from fixed income assets 2,764 -189

Net income from derivatives 8 -873

Net income from currencies 3,373 3,811

Net commission expenses 5 -180 -170

Total income 28,167 19,836

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff costs  6 -121 -115

Other administrative expenses 7 -65 -77

Total operating expenses -186 -192

Net profit for the year 27,981 19,643
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Balance sheet

ASSETS

SEK m Note 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

Shares and investments

   Listed             8, 19 151,229 143,642

   Unlisted 9, 19 50,497 39,196

Bonds and other fixed income assets 10, 19 131,032 132,373

Derivatives 11, 19, 21 4,681 5,460

Cash and cash equivalents 1,260 1,780

Other assets   12, 21 11,107 11,569

Prepaid expenses and accrued income      13 935 1,083

Total assets 350,741 335,101

FUND CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES

Liabilities

Derivatives          11, 19, 21 4,995 3,071

Other liabilities     14, 21 21,282 28,920

Deferred income and accrued expenses     15 89 79

Total liabilities 26,366 32,070

Fund capital

Fund capital at 1 Jan  16 303,031 288,332

Net payments to national pension system -6,637 -4,944

Net profit for the year 27,981 19,643

Total fund capital 324,375 303,031

Total fund capital and liabilities 350,741 335,101

Memorandum items 17, 22

Balance sheet
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Notes to the financial statements

The Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3), corporate identity number 
802014-4120, is one of the funds that manage the capital buffer of the Swedish 
pension system. AP3 is headquartered in Stockholm. The board of directors approved 
the annual financial statements for 2016 on 24 February 2017. The income statement 
and balance sheet are subject to government approval. 

   NOTE 1 Accounting and valuation policies
The National Pension Insurance Funds Act (2000:192) requires the annual accounts 
to be prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, which in-
volves recognition of fund assets at market value. AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 have agreed 
and applied shared accounting and valuation policies, as summarised below.  

The AP funds are adapting their accounting and valuation policies to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The IFRS are being developed and 
hitherto the funds have focused on adapting to IFRS 7 and IFRS 13. Full adjustment to 
IFRS would not significantly affect reported income and capital. AP3 meets the 
qualification requirements for designation as an investment company as per IFRS 10. 
The only difference as against currently effective IFRS is that AP3 does not prepare a 
statement of cash flows.

Transaction day accounting
Purchases and sales of securities and derivatives on the money, bond, equity and 
currency markets are recognised in the balance sheet on the transaction date, that 
is the point when material rights, and therefore risks, are transacted between the 
parties. Receivables and liabilities that fall between the transaction and settlement 
dates are reported under other assets and other liabilities respectively. Other trans-
actions, especially relating to unlisted equities, are recognised in the balance sheet 
on the settlement date, in conformity with market norms.

Net accounting
AP3 recognises assets and liabilities net in the balance sheet where there is a legal 
right to offset transactions and an intention exists to provide net cash consideration or 
to realise the asset and receive consideration for the liability simultaneously.  

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are shown in Swedish kronor at the exchange rate on 
the transaction date. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are recognised in Swedish 
kronor at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Changes in the values of foreign currency-denominated assets are divided into the 
change attributable to the change in the value of the asset or liability and the change 
caused by exchange rate movements. Exchange rate gains or losses arising due to ex-
change rate changes are recognised in the income statement under net income from 
currencies.

Shareholdings in subsidiaries and associates
Shareholdings in subsidiaries and associates are recognised at fair value, in conformity 
with the National Pension Insurance Funds Act. Fair value is measured using the same 
method as for unlisted shares and investments. There is no requirement to prepare 
consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of financial instruments
All AP3’s investments are measured at fair value. Realised and unrealised changes in 
value are recognised in the income statement. Hence, items presented under net in-
come per asset category include realised and unrealised income. The financial state-
ments include references to benchmark indices. Details of these can be found at www.
ap3.se. The method for measuring fair value is described below.

Listed shares and investments
Shares and units traded on a regulated market or trading platform are measured 
using the price quoted by the relevant index vendor. This price is often the mid-rate. 
Holdings not included in an index are valued at listed prices observable in an active 
market. Brokerage fees are recognised in net income for listed equities.   

Unlisted shares and investments
Shares and investments not traded on a regulated market or trading platform are 
measured at fair value based on the valuation received from the counterparty or other 
external party. Valuations are updated when new valuations are received and are ad-
justed for cash flows up to the reporting date. AP3 may revise a valuation where strong 
grounds exist for believing that the valuation is wrong. Fair value measurement of un-
listed shares and investments follows the International Private Equity and Venture Cap-
ital Valuation (IPEV) guidelines or equivalent valuation principles and is generally based 
on transactions with third parties. However, other valuation methods can be applied.

Unlisted real estate shares are measured on the basis of their net asset value, pro-
vided they have not been transacted on a secondary market. Holdings in unlisted real 
estate companies are measured to reflect deferred tax liability and at the value applied 
in real estate transactions. This differs from the value that real estate companies apply 
in their financial statements. 

Bonds and other fixed income assets
Fair value of bonds and other fixed income assets is measured using the official market 
price (usually the bid rate) quoted by the Fund’s index supplier. Holdings not included  
in an index are valued at listed prices observable in an active market. Where an instru - 
ment is not traded on an active market and reliable market prices are unavailable, the 
instrument is measured using generally accepted valuation models, whereby cash flow 
is discounted to the relevant valuation curve. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method based on amor-
tised cost. Amortised cost is the discounted present value of future payments, where 
the discount rate corresponds to the effective interest rate at the time of purchase. 
 Acquired premiums and discounts are recognised as interest income until the  coupon 
rate changes or the instrument matures. They are recognised in interest income. 
Changes in value arising due to movements in interest rates are recognised under net 
income from fixed income assets, while changes in value arising from exchange rate 
movements are recognised under net income from currencies.

Derivatives
The fair value of derivatives is measured using rates on the reporting date. In cases 
where instruments are not traded in an active market and no market prices are 
available, valuations are made using generally accepted theoretical models whose 
inputs consist exclusively of observable market data. 

Derivative contracts with a positive fair value on the reporting date are recognised 
as assets, while contracts with a negative market value are recognised as liabilities. 
Changes in value arising from exchange rate movements are recognised in the income 
statement under net income from currencies, while other changes in value are recog-
nised under net income from derivatives. The difference between forward and spot 
rates for currency forwards is allocated on a straight-line basis during the term of the 
contract and is recognised as interest income.

Buybacks
In a true buyback (repurchase), the asset remains on the balance sheet and cash re-
ceived is recognised as a liability. The divested security is recognised under pledged as-
sets in the balance sheet. The cash value difference between spot and forward legs ac-
crues during the maturity period and is recognised as interest.    

Securities lending
Loaned securities are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and  consideration 
received is recognised as interest income in the income statement. Collateral re-
ceived for loaned securities may consist of securities and/or cash. Where AP3 has 
the right to dispose over cash collateral received, this is recognised in the balance 
sheet as an asset and a corresponding liability is created. In cases where AP3 does 
not have the right of disposal over the asset, the loaned security is recognised not 
in the balance sheet but separately under “Pledged assets, contingent liabilities 
and commitments”. The value of loaned securities and the collateral paid to secure 
them is also recognised under this item. 

Items recognised directly in fund capital
Payments to and from the pension system are recognised directly in fund capital.

Commission expenses
Commission expenses are recognised as a deduction from operating income in the 
income statement. They consist of external costs for asset management services, such 
as custody account fees and fixed commissions to external managers, and fixed 
commissions for exchange-traded funds. Performance-based fees, payable when a 
manager produces returns above an agreed level and where profit sharing applies, are 
recognised as a deduction from net income for the relevant asset class in the income 
statement. 

Management fees for unlisted shares and investments deemed repayable prior to 
profit sharing, and where repayment is likely, are recognised in cost and included in un-
realised income. In other cases, they are recognised as commission expenses.

Operating expenses
All management expenses, excluding brokerage fees, fees to external managers and 
custodian fees, are recognised as operating expenses. Investments in equipment and 
proprietary and purchased computer software are normally expensed as they arise. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  45

Eng_43_55_v9.indd   45 2017-04-20   17:51



   NOTE 2 Net interest income 

SEK m 2016 2015
Interest income

Bonds and fixed income assets 1,793 2,207
Derivatives 1,103 11,099
Securities lending, equities 159 65
Securities lending, bonds 60 33
Other interest income 20 17
Total interest income 3,135 13,420

Interest expense

Derivatives 2,362 11,862
Other interest expenses 0 0
Total interest expense 2,362 11,862

Net interest income 773 1,559

   NOTE 3 Net income from listed shares and investments

SEK m 2016 2015
Income from listed shares and investments  9,888 4,516
Brokerage fees -78 -98
Net income from listed shares and investments 9,811 4,418

   NOTE 5 Commission expenses

SEK m 2016 2015
External commissions, listed assets 152 139
External commissions, unlisted assets 16 15
Other commission expenses incl. custodian bank costs 12 16
Total commission expenses 180 170

Performance-based fees of SEK 183 million (113) are not recognised in commission 
expenses. SEK 164 million (85) of this figure relates to listed equities and SEK 19 million 
(28) to unlisted shares and investments. Performance-based fees are recognised in net 
income for each asset class.      

Underlying fees for total return swaps (TRS)1 are not recognised in commission 
expenses but as a change in value under net income from derivatives. Underlying costs 
for TRS were SEK 12 million (20).                        

1) See Glossary, p. 66

  NOT 1 cont.    NOTE 4 Net income from unlisted shares and investments 

SEK m 2016 2015
Net capital gain 1,206 3,728
Unrealised changes in value 4,904 2,908
Net income from unlisted shares and investments 6,110 6,636

Recognition of external asset management fees in unlisted assets is in conformity with 
two different principles depending on whether or not the underlying management 
contract provides for repayment prior to the sharing of profit from future profitable 
disposals. Where the contract allows repayment, the fees are recognised under the 
cost of the asset and, therefore, under unrealised net income from unlisted assets. 
Thus, repaid management fees have a positive impact on unrealised income. Where 
the contract does not provide for repayment, management fees are expensed under 
commission expenses. 

In 2016, SEK 204 million (165) was paid in management fees for unlisted assets, of 
which SEK 188 million (149) provided for repayment under the policy above. SEK 180 
million (219) was repaid, resulting in a charge of SEK 8 million (contribution: 70) to 
income from unlisted shares and investments . Paid fees where the underlying 
con tracts did not provide for repayment totalled SEK 16 million (15) and are re cognised 
as commission expenses. See Note 5, “Commission expenses”.

Because paid and repaid management fees for unlisted shares and investments 
were previously recognised as net amounts, prior years’ figures have been adjusted to 
reflect the gross amounts recognised in 2016. 

Taxes
AP3 is exempt from all income tax on investments in Sweden. 

Dividend and coupon taxes payable in some countries are recognised on a net basis 
in the relevant income category in the income statement. 

As of 2012, AP3 is VAT-registered and liable to pay value added tax on purchases 
outside Sweden. AP3 is not entitled to reclaim VAT outlays. VAT is expensed under the 
relevant item. 

Rounding off  
Minor discrepancies may occur in the tables in this report due to the rounding up or 
down of individual figures.
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Staff costs in SEK thousand, 2016
Salaries and 

remuneration
Variable  

remuneration
Pension plan  

expenses
of which  

salary sacrifice

Social security  
expenses incl.  

special payroll tax Total
Chairman of the board, Pär Nuder 111 35 145
Other directors
Malin Björkmo, joined 2016 25 8 33
Sonat Burman-Olsson, left 2016 25 8 33
Björn Börjesson 102 32 134
Inga-Lill Carlberg 72 22 94
Peter Englund 50 8 58
Gunvor Engström, left 2016 25 4 29
Lars Ernsäter 61 19 80
Peter Hellberg 61 19 80
Kerstin Lindberg Göransson, joined 
2016 46 15 61
Elisabeth Unell 50 16 66
Total 627 186 813

CEO Kerstin Hessius 3,373 - 2,216 917 1,597 7,187
Executive management excl. CEO
Mattias Bylund 1,827 427 678 2,932
Mårten Lindeborg 2,935 779 1,111 4,825
Lil Larås Lindgren 1,374 430 536 2,341
Total executive management  
excl. CEO 6,136 - 1,636 - 2,325 10,097
Other employees 54,741 4,486 17,785 2,099 22,625 99,637

Total employees 64,250 4,486 21,637 3,016 26,547 116,920
Other staff costs 3,071
Total staff costs 64,877 4,486 21,637 3,016 26,733 120,804

Staff costs in SEK thousand, 2015
Salaries and 

remuneration
Variable  

remuneration
Pension plan  

expenses
of which  

salary sacrifice

Social security  
expenses incl.  

special payroll tax Total
Chairman of the board, Pär Nuder 110 35 145
Other directors
Sonat Burman-Olsson 71 22 94
Björn Börjesson 102 32 134
Inga-Lill Carlberg 71 22 94
Peter Englund 50 16 66
Gunvor Engström 50 16 66
Lars Ernsäter 61 19 80
Peter Hellberg 61 19 80
Elisabeth Unell 50 16 66
Total 626 197 823

CEO Kerstin Hessius 3,313 2,181 889 1,570 7,064
Executive management excl. CEO
Mattias Bylund 1,673 427 629 2,730
Kerim Kaskal (left executive 
management in October 2015) 2,353 640 895 3,888
Mårten Lindeborg 2,663 679 1,002 4,344
Lil Larås Lindgren 1,356 435 532 2,322
Total executive management  
excl. CEO 8,045 2,181 3,057 13,284
Other employees 49,670 3,903 17,018 1,683 20,609 91,201

Total employees 61,029 3,903 21,380 2,572 25,236 111,548
Other staff costs 2,937
Total staff costs 61,655 3,903 21,380 2,572 25,433 115,308

   NOTE 6 Employees
2016 2015

total female total female
Average no. of employees 55 19 54 19
No. of employees at 31 Dec 57 21 51 17
No. in executive management at 31 Dec 4 2 4 2
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  NOTE 7 Other operating expenses

SEK m 2016 2015
Office rent 11 10
Communications and data costs 36 39
Services purchased 11 21
Other information 7 7
Total other operating expenses 65 77

Services purchased include fees to auditors. 

SEK thousand 2016 2015
Audit assignments
PwC 719 705
Other assignments
PwC 369 616
Total fees to audit firms 1,088 1,321

Services purchased included fees of SEK 0.6 million (0.3) for consulting services 
ordered by the Government Offices. 

  NOTE 8 Listed shares and investments

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

SEK m Fair value Fair value
Swedish equities 41,533 36,322
Investments in Swedish funds 1,998 3,030
Foreign equities 83,090 80,513
Investments in foreign funds 24,608 23,776
Total listed shares and investments  151,229 143,642

A schedule of the five largest Swedish and foreign equity holdings is shown on page 
66. A schedule of all AP3’s equity holdings is available at www.ap3.se. See Notes 1 and 
17 for information on securities lending. Collateral received in relation to securities 
lending totalled an average of 103% of the market value of the assets lent. 

   NOTE 6 cont.

  Board of directors The government sets the remuneration of directors. As of 
2000, annual fees of SEK 100,000 are paid to the Chairman, SEK 75,000 to the Deputy 
Chairman and SEK 50,000 to other directors. The government has approved addition-
al remuneration of up to SEK 100 thousand for directors who sit on the remuneration 
committee and audit committee. Remuneration of SEK 100 thousand (100) was paid 
for committee engagements in 2016.

  Committees The remuneration committee had three members in 2016. It makes 
recommendations to the board on the CEO’s salary and benefits and AP3’s salary 
structure prior to salary reviews. The remuneration committee also makes recom-
mendations to the board on the variable remuneration programme. Decisions in 
these matters are taken by the board. The audit committee has three members and 
its role is to monitor and issue recommendations to the board in financial reporting, 
accounting, internal control, risk management and external audit.

  CEO’s remuneration The board sets the salary and benefits of the CEO. Under the 
CEO’s employment contract, AP3 pays retirement pension and sickness insurance 
premiums totalling 30% of gross salary. In the event of termination, the contractual 
notice period is six months for both AP3 and the CEO. If AP3 terminates the CEO’s 
contract, 18 months’ severance pay may be payable. Severance salary and pay are to 
be offset against any income from new employment or business activity. No contract 
provisions exist for early retirement. In 2016 the CEO received taxable benefits of SEK 
3 thousand (2). The CEO does not participate in the performance-based incentive 
scheme.

  Executive management committee excl. CEO The executive management 
committee consists of the CEO, CIO, Head of Business Support & Control, Chief Risk 
Officer and Head of Communications.

AP3 has collective wage agreements with the Employers’ Organisation of the 
Swedish Banking Institutions and the JUSEK/Swedish Association of Graduates in 
Business Administration and Economics (SACO) trade unions. The CEO and CIO are the 
only employees whose terms and conditions are outside the collective wage 
agreements. The CIO has a notice period of six months that applies to both parties. If 
the Fund terminates the CIO’s contract, 12 months’ severance pay may be payable. 
Severance salary and pay are to be offset against any income from new employment 
or business activity. No special agreements exist in respect of notice periods, 
severance pay or early retirement for other members of executive management. 
Executive management committee members received benefits ranging from SEK 1 (0) 
to SEK 7 thousand (9). Executive management does not participate in the performan-
ce-based variable remuneration scheme.

  Performance-based remuneration programme The board of directors has ap-
proved a performance-based incentive scheme modelled on government guidelines 
issued in April 2009 and adjusted for guidelines on remuneration in insurance and 
other financial entities issued by Finansinspektionen in March 2010. The programme 
applied in 2016 and gave employees in the asset management department the 
opportunity to receive performance-based remuneration of up to two months’ 
salary on the fulfilment of specific agreed criteria. Sixty percent of variable remuner-
ation is not paid until three years after the year in which it is earned. Employees in 
administrative departments have the chance to receive variable remuneration of half 
a month’s salary. AP3’s net income must be positive before variable remuneration 
can be payable to any employee. The CEO and members of the executive manage-
ment committee are not part of the variable performance-based remuneration 
programme. The Fund reserved SEK 4.4 million (3.9) in the 2016 accounts for variable 
remuneration contingent on fulfilment of agreed targets. This sum was equivalent to 
the payment of an average of 1.0 month’s salary (1.0) in variable performance-based 
remuneration to each employee covered by the programme. 
 

  Sickness absence Sickness absence in 2016 was 1.2% (0.8) – 0.5% (0.2) for male 
employees and 2.5% (2.0) for female staff. This corresponded to 857 hours, of which 
long-term sickness absences (more than 60 consecutive days) was 426 hours or 50%.
 

  Other information    
Under the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative, companies should disclose 
whether freedom of association and collective bargaining exists and if any employees 
are younger than 18. In compliance with Swedish law, AP3 allows freedom of associa-
tion and collective bargaining. AP3 has no employees aged under 18.
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Corporate  
identity number Reg'd office

Number of 
shares

Share of  
equity capital Fair value

100% 
capital 2016

100% net 
result 2016 

Unlisted shares in subsidiary and associated companies
Vasakronan Holding AB 556650-4196 Stockholm 1,000,000 25% 13,771 46,117 11,472
Hemsö Fastighets AB 556779-8169 Stockholm 70,000,700 70% 6,984 8,673 2,344
Hemsö Intressenter AB 556917-4336 Stockholm 25,000 50% 1,497
Hemsö Scandinavia KB 969769-2961 Stockholm 50% 157 313 23
Trophi Fastighets AB 556914-7647 Stockholm 1,000,000 100% 3,835 3,765 742
Ellevio AB 556037-7326 Stockholm 10,000 20% 1,620
Fastighets AB Regio 559013-4911 Stockholm 4,000,000 98% 1,717 1,760 222
Trenum AB 556978-8291 Gothenburg 50,000 50% 91 181 125
Total shares in Swedish subsidiary and associated companies 29,670

Corporate  
identity number Reg'd office

Number of 
shares

Share of  
equity capital Cost 2016 Cost 2015  

Other unlisted Swedish shares and investments
Bergvik Skog AB 556610-2959 Falun 347 5% 174 174

Bonesupport AB 556802-2171 Lund 13,336,198 9,2% 59 51

Five largest holdings in Swedish private equity firms and funds
IT Provider Fund IV Stockholm 16% 125 125
Valedo Partners Fund I Stockholm 20% 123 123
Verdane Capital IX Stockholm 10% 35 -
Swedestart Tech Stockholm 11% 13 15
Standout Capital I Stockholm 29% 5 -

Five largest investments in foreign private equity firms and funds
German Retail Income Jersey 92% 1,119 1,119
RMK GAC Pennsylvania 100% 766 766
Innisfree PFI Secondary Fund 2 (ISF2) London 21% 701 700
Hermes Infra Spring II Guernsey 26% 684 -
Southern Cone Timberland, LLC Delaware 19% 423 423

Cost of other holdings 28,222 23,163
Total cost 32,448 26,659
Total fair value 50,497 39,196

A schedule of all holdings, including the initial year of investment and the size of investment commitment, is available at www.ap3.se.

  NOTE 9  Unlisted shares and investments

As of 31 December 2016, AP3’s investment commitments in unlisted securities via 
private equity firms and funds were as follows. The schedule below shows the five 
largest holdings in terms of invested capital.

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

SEK m Fair value Fair value
Shares in Swedish subsidiary and associated companies 29,670 19,437
Shares in other Swedish companies 1,515 1,412
Investments in private equity firms and funds 552 502
Foreign shares and investments 18,760 17,844

Total unlisted shares and investments 50,497 39,196
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  NOTE 10 Bonds and other fixed income assets

Bonds and other fixed income securities  
by class of issuer 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
Swedish state 16,873 12,188
Swedish municipalities 179 75
Swedish mortgage lenders 4,885 881
Other Swedish issuers
  Financial institutions 2,373 1,194
  Non-financial institutions 13,602 15,343
Foreign states 59,712 62,212
Other foreign issuers 28,517 35,784
Total 126,140 127,676
Fixed income funds 4,892 4,697
Total 131,032 132,373

Bonds and other fixed income securities  
by class of instrument 

31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
Index-linked bonds 20,381 18,954
Other bonds 90,453 98,138
Certificates 7,000 560
Unlisted promissory notes 8,306 10,025
Total 126,140 127,676
Fixed income funds 4,892 4,697
Total 131,032 132,373

SEK 10,841 million (17,449) of bonds and other fixed income securities relates to 
reinvested cash collateral received for securities lending. See Notes 1 and 17 for 
information on securities lending. Collateral received in relation to securities 
lending totalled an average of 103% of the market value of the assets loaned. 

  NOTE 11 Derivatives, gross 

31 Dec 2016

SEK m
Positive 

Fair value
Negative 

Fair value
Equity-related instruments

Options, cleared Held, buy 1 -
Held, sell 20 -
Drawn, buy 9 -3
Drawn, sell - -9

Forwards 134 -186
Swaps 36 -0
Total 200 -198
- cleared 163 -198

Fixed income and credit-related instruments

Options, cleared Held, buy 1 -
Held, sell 52 -
Drawn, buy - -0
Drawn, sell - -54

FRAs/forwards 35 -22
CDS 823 -877
Swaps 628 -22
Total 1 539 -975
- cleared 88 -76

Currency-related instruments

Options, OTC Held, buy 416 -
Held, sell 587 -
Drawn, buy 0 -369
Drawn, sell 2 -368

Forwards 1,937 -3,085
Swaps - -
Total 2,942 -3,822

Effect of netting - -
Total derivatives 4,681 -4,995

31 Dec 2015

SEK m
Positive 

Fair value
Negative 

Fair value
Equity-related instruments

Options, cleared Held, buy 92 -
Held, sell - -
Drawn, buy - -1
Drawn, sell - -56

Forwards 151 -160
Swaps 37 -38
Total 281 -255
- cleared 244 -217

Fixed income and credit-related instruments

Options, cleared Held, buy 263 -1
Held, sell 3 -129
Drawn, buy - -1
Drawn, sell 19 -2

FRAs/forwards 39 -62
CDS 691 -595
Swaps 149 -169
Total 1 163 -961
- cleared 323 -196

Currency-related instruments

Options, OTC Held, buy 167 -
Held, sell 1,038 -
Drawn, buy - -75
Drawn, sell - -956

Forwards 2,810 -823
Swaps - -
Total 4,015 -1,855

Effect of netting - -
Total derivatives 5,460 -3,071

AP3 is mandated to use derivative securities primarily to improve the efficacy of asset 
management or to manage risk.

Equity and interest rate derivatives are preferably traded on standardised markets 
through cleared products, which limits counterparty risk to the clearing house. 
Currency and credit derivative markets are over-the-counter, which means that trades 
executed there are not standardised or subject to clearing. Thus, counterparty or 
settlement risk generally arises. Counterparties for non-cleared transactions are limited 
and sanctioned by the board and all exposure to such counterparties is continuously 

monitored. AP3 uses standardised market contracts, including ISDA agreements, for 
OTC trading. 

Drawn put options are positions in different options strategies taken to manage 
portfolio risk. Where a put option requires AP3 to deliver an underlying security, AP3 
always holds enough of that security to meet its delivery obligation.

More information on AP3's risk management procedures for derivatives can be 
found in the risk management plan at www.ap3.se.
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  NOTE 14 Other liabilities

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Accounts payable 14 12

Trade payables 1,276 203

Payroll taxes 1 1

Staff PAYE taxes 3 2

Buybacks 3,542 1,251

Cash collateral received 16,438 27,441

Other liabilities 9 11

Total other liabilities 21,282 28,920

  NOTE 15 Deferred income and accrued expenses

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Accrued external asset management costs 32 57
Other accrued expenses 44 11
Variable remuneration incl. social security expenses 12 11
Total deferred income and accrued expenses 89 79

Forty percent of a payment of variable remuneration earned in 2014 was made in 
2015. The remainder will be paid in 2017. Forty percent of a payment of variable 
remuneration earned in 2015 was made in 2016. The remainder will be paid in 
2018. A provision for variable remuneration was made in 2016. Forty percent of this 
amount will be paid in 2017 and the remainder in 2019. 

  NOTE 16 Fund capital

Net payments to the pension system

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Fund capital at 1 Jan 303,031 288,332
Paid-in pension contributions 64,174 61,373
Paid-out pension disbursements -70,595 -66,141
Transfer of pension rights to the EU -1 -3
Settlement of pension rights 1 2
Administration fee to Swedish Pensions Agency -216 -176

Total net payments to the pension system -6,637 -4,944

Net profit 27,981 19,643

Fund capital at 31 Dec 324,375 303,031

  NOTE 17 Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and commitments

Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and equivalent collateral

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Pledged assets for buybacks
    Collateral received 9,747 11,378
    Collateral pledged 3,542 1,251
Pledged assets for derivatives trading
     Cash collateral received 713 1,111
     Cash collateral pledged - 92
Loaned securities for which cash collateral received

Loaned securities 16,435 27,447
Cash collateral received 16,438 27,441

Securities loaned against collateral in securities
Loaned securities 42,155 20,320
Collateral received in securities 43,697 22,071

Outstanding commitments

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Unlisted equities 6,076 5,299
Real estate and timberland funds 739 923
Subscription commitments 8,500 8,500

The collateral shown above is presented in Notes 10, 12 and 14.

  NOTE 12 Other assets

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Trade payables 1,310 188
Buybacks 4,142 1,388
Reinvested cash collateral 5,605 9,990
Other assets - -
Other current receivables 50 2
Total other assets 11,107 11,569

  NOTE 13 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

SEK m 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
Accrued interest income 667 861
Accrued dividends 96 99
Tax reclaimables 113 76
Prepaid expenses 41 35
Accrued premiums on equity loans 17 12
Total prepaid expenses and accrued income 935 1,083
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  NOTE 18 Currency exposure

Assets subject to currency exposure at 31 Dec 2016 
SEK m EUR GBP JPY USD

Other 
information Total

Shares and investments 19,081 10,234 4,445 59,838 28,913 122,511
Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile1 612 618 - - 688 1,918
Bonds and other fixed income securities 2,380 8,101 205 59,869 128 70,684
Derivatives -2,535 -572 68 -470 -480 -3,990

Other investment assets 2,023 53 147 6,871 190 9,283

Foreign currency exposure, gross 21,561 18,434 4,865 126,107 29,439 200,407

Currency hedges -37,342 -13,108 -5,388 -86,906 1,051 -141,692

Total currency exposure -15,780 5,326 -522 39,201 30,490 58,715

  NOTE 19 Financial instruments, price and valuation hierarchy

Investment assets per valuation category at 31 Dec 2016

SEK m
Observable prices in  

an active market
Valuation model with 
observable input data

Valuation model  
with non-observable 

input data Total 
Listed shares and investments 151,229 151,229
Unlisted shares and investments 50,497 50,497
Bonds and other fixed income assets 122,343 8,690 131,032
Derivatives, positive market value 252 4,429 4,681
Total investment assets 273,824 4,429 59,186 337,439
Derivatives, negative market value -274 -4,722 -4,995
Total 273,550 -292 59,186 332,444

Assets subject to currency exposure at 31 Dec 2015 
SEK m EUR GBP JPY USD

Other 
information Total

Shares and investments 19,008 13,008 8,469 52,600 24,028 117,113
Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile1 509 706 - - 982 2,196
Bonds and other fixed income securities 3,470 7,453 - 59,882 2,876 73,681
Derivatives -2,609 -528 8 -795 -286 -4,211

Other investment assets 2,647 320 88 6,457 1,255 10,768

Foreign currency exposure, gross 23,024 20,960 8,565 118,144 28,854 199,547

Currency hedges -27,487 -15,817 -500 -75,364 -9,169 -128,338

Total currency exposure -4,463 5,142 8,065 42,780 19,685 71,210

1) This holdings is classified as a currency exposure due to legal requirements

Investment assets per valuation category at 31 Dec 2015

SEK m
Observable prices in  

an active market
Valuation model with 
observable input data

Valuation model  
with non-observable 

input data Total 
Listed shares and investments 143,642 143,642
Unlisted shares and investments 39,196 39,196
Bonds and other fixed income assets 122,024 10,349 132,373
Derivatives, positive market value 567 4,893 5,460
Total investment assets 266,233 4,893 49,545 320,670
Derivatives, negative market value -413 -2,657 -3,071
Total 265,819 2,235 49,545 317,599
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Change in assets under valuation model with non-observable input data, 2015 – 2016

SEK m
Listed equities 

and investments
Unlisted equities  
and investments

Bonds and other  
fixed income assets Derivatives Total

Carrying amount at 1 Jan - 39,196 10,349 - 49,545
Invested - 8,891 1,783 - 10,674
Sold/repaid during year - -3,102 -3,540 - -6,642
Realised change in value - -92 - - -92
Unrealised change in value - 5,604 98 - 5,702
Transfer from level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Transfer to level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 Dec - 50,497 8,690 - 59,186

AP3 measures all holdings at fair value using a hierarchy of price sources and 
measurement methods. Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could 
be sold or a liability settled in a normal transaction between market players on the 
valuation date. 

Holdings shown in the benchmark indices that AP3 uses for liquid investments 
in equities and fixed income securities are measured initially at the prices stated by 
index vendors. Where such holdings are not included in an index or the index ven-
dor's price is not deemed to be reliable, measurement is at list prices observable in 
an active market. An active market relates to a market where prices are set more 
often than once a week. Observable prices are always the preferred measurement 
option and apply to the majority of AP3's assets. However, when such prices are 
not available, the next step in the valuation hierarchy is used for measurement.

Reliable listed prices are unavailable for some holdings, notably some fixed 
income securities and most derivatives not traded over an exchange or handled by 
a clearing house. Measurements are based on generally acceptable models that 
use observable market data to establish fair value. Valuation risk for this group 
is regarded as limited. This group also includes certain types of transaction in 
which AP3 relies on price information from one or more external counterparties 
to identify fair value. In the case of assets whose price is deemed unreliable, for 
instance due to low market activity, AP3 obtains a third-party valuation to test the 
reasonableness of its own valuation. 

Change in assets under valuation model with non-observable input data, 2014 – 2015

SEK m
Listed equities 

and investments
Unlisted equities  
and investments

Bonds and other  
fixed income assets Derivatives Total

Carrying amount at 1 Jan - 32,017 8,610 - 40,627
Invested - 6,846 6,476 - 13,322
Sold/repaid during year - -2,776 -4,831 - -7,607
Realised change in value - 232 -48 - 183
Unrealised change in value - 2,877 143 - 3,020
Transfer from level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Transfer to level 1 or 2 - - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 Dec - 39,196 10,349 - 49,545

Some holdings must be valued using models based on non-observable market 
data. These are subject to a higher degree of subjective assessment and hence 
higher uncertainty. In AP3's case, they relate mostly to holdings in private equity 
funds and of unlisted shares in real estate companies.

AP3 measures private equity fund holdings using valuations received from 
external managers. AP3 requires that fund managers comply with IPEV valuation 
principles and that their funds are reviewed by an established audit firm. Valua-
tions from fund managers are usually received within 90 days after the end of the 
quarter, which means that the declared values of AP3's holdings as of 31 December 
are based on fund managers' reports dated 30 September adjusted for cash 
flow during the fourth quarter. AP3 assesses the reliability of these valuations to 
determine whether any adjustments are necessary to achieve a more accurate fair 
value. No adjustments were deemed necessary as of 31 December 2016. Valua-
tions primarily reflect the underlying profitability of the investee but also how the 
equity market values comparable enterprises. Projected discounted future cash 
flow is of less importance from a valuation perspective because the AP3 private 
equity portfolio largely consists of buyouts. 

The table provides a schedule of all AP3's investment assets by valuation cate-
gory. Some 82% (84) of these assets can be valued at observable prices in an active 
market. A 10% write-down of the hardest-to-value assets – those with a valuation 
model based on non-observable input data – would reduce AP3's fund capital by 
1.8% (1.7). AP3 has limited valuation risk.

   NOTE 19 cont.
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  NOTE 21 Financial assets and liabilities offset in the balance sheet or subject to netting agreements

31 Dec 2016

Assets, SEK m Gross amount
Amount offset in 

balance sheet
Net balance in 
balance sheet

Offsetting 
of financial 

instruments 
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount
 after offsetting

Other 
information1

Total in  
balance sheet

Derivatives 4,429 4,429 2,810 713 907 252 4,681

Asset repurchases 4,142 4,142 3,542 599 5,605 9,747

Non-settled transactions 1,310 1,310

Total 8,571 0 8,571 6,352 713 1,506 7,167 15,738

Liabilities, SEK m Gross amount
Amount offset in 

balance sheet
Net balance in 
balance sheet

Offsetting 
of financial 

instruments 
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount
 after offsetting

Other 
information1

Total in  
balance sheet

Derivatives 4,722 4,722 2,810 250 1,662 274 4,995

Debt repurchases 3,542 3,542 3,542 6 0 3,542

Non-settled transactions 1,276 1,276

Total 8,264 0 8,264 6,352 256 1,662 1,549 9,813

1) Other instruments in the balance sheet not classed as subject to agreements that allow netting.

  NOTE 20 Financial risk

Risk measured as value at risk for the AP3 portfolio

Mkr Min. level Max. level Average 31 dec 31 dec1

2016 1,265 3,836 2,144 1,484 2,581
2015 1,406 4,450 2,341 2,232 2,615

1) Column shows VaR for equally weighted historic data.

Daily value at risk (VaR) for the AP3 portfolio 2016

SEK m

AP3's holdings are exposed to market and credit risks that can result in changes in 
value when equity prices, fixed income yields, credit spreads and currency rates 
change. AP3 uses value at risk (VaR) to aggregate risk across all risk categories. At 
year-end, risk measured as VaR totalled SEK 1,484 million (2,232) for the total 
portfolio. AP3 measures VaR with a 95% level of confidence and a horizon of one day, 
meaning that negative changes in value should not exceed VaR on 19 days out of 20, 
assuming that market conditions follow historical patterns. AP3 bases VaR estimates 
on historic market data dating back 360 days. Historic data are weighted exponentially, 
meaning that market events in the preceding 80 days have overriding influence. The 
measurement method used is known as Monte Carlo simulation and is a random 
simulation of changes in value based on historic data. The table shows VaR at 31 
December. Historic data are equally weighted, meaning that every day has equal 
significance.

AP3's risk measured as VaR varied from SEK 1,265 million (1,406) to SEK 3,836 
million (4,450) during the year. Changes in the level of risk were due primarily to 
changes in market volatility, and to a lesser extent to changes in portfolio structure.

The table above shows maximum and minimum VaR and both average risk and 
year-end risk for the AP3 portfolio. Risk exposure by risk category is shown on page 38.

Exposure to credit risk at 31 Dec 20161

                                                                                                          CREDIT RATING

SEK m AAA AA A BBB ‹BBB-2 
Government bonds 34,323 52,901 1,462
Mortgage bonds 11 1,943 253
Corporate bonds 6,254 3,761 3,633 2,052
Deposits and buybacks 1,363 7,023
Derivatives, net 249 1,346
Gross exposure 34,334 62,711 13,593 3,633 2,305
Collateral received 709
Net exposure 34,334 62,711 12,883 3,633 2,305

Exposure to credit risk at 31 Dec 20151

                                                                                                          CREDIT RATING

SEK m AAA AA A BBB ‹BBB-2 
Government bonds 33,451 53,329 535 420
Mortgage bonds 26 893 260
Corporate bonds 149 7,033 7,827 5,060 3,199
Deposits and buybacks 3,256 12,486
Derivatives, net 748 1,725 35
Gross exposure 33,625 65,258 22,574 5,516 3,458
Collateral received 212 903
Net exposure 33,625 65,046 21,671 5,516 3,458

1)  Includes: investments in listed fixed income securities; deposits and buybacks; non-cleared 
derivatives where AP3 has a claim on the counterparty; and repayments of collateral for 
securities lending. The table only shows exposure versus credit risk and cannot be read against 
the balance sheet.

2) Also includes unrated securities.

AP3's liquidity risk is limited by the National Pension Insurance Funds Act, which 
requires the AP funds to hold at least 30% of their fund capital in fixed income 
securities with low credit and liquidity risk. AP3's holdings in this category averaged 
32.8% (32.7) of fund capital in 2016.

jan feb mar apr may jun jul aug sep oct nov dec
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

Equally weighted historic dataExponentially weighted historic data 

54  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2016

AP3 | NOTES

Eng_43_55_v9.indd   54 2017-04-20   17:51



  NOTE 22 Related party transactions

Related party, SEK m 2016 2015
Vasakronan Holding AB
Interest income 147 215
Rental cost of premises -11 -9
Shareholder loans - 3,000
Commitment to purchase, at the issuer's 
request, commercial paper issued by 
Vasakronan for a maximum amount of: 4,500 4,500
Capital increases during the year 3,000 -

Hemsö Fastighets AB
Interest income - 53
Shareholder loans - -
Commitment to purchase, at the issuer's 
request, commercial paper issued by Hemsö 
Fastighets AB for a maximum amount of: 4,000 4,000

Hemsö Intressenter AB
Interest income 88 72
Shareholder loans 1,470 1,470

31 Dec 2015

Assets, SEK m Gross amount
Amount offset in 

balance sheet
Net balance in 
balance sheet

Offsetting 
of financial 

instruments 
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount
 after offsetting

Other 
information1

Total in  
balance sheet

Derivatives 4,893 4,893 2,483 1,111 1,299 567 5,460

Asset repurchases 1,388 1,388 1,251 137 9,990 11,378

Non-settled transactions 188 188

Total 6,281 0 6,281 3,734 1,111 1,436 10,745 17,026

Liabilities, SEK m Gross amount
Amount offset in 

balance sheet
Net balance in 
balance sheet

Offsetting 
of financial 

instruments 
per agreement

Collateral 
received

Net amount
 after offsetting

Other 
information1

Total in  
balance sheet

Derivatives 2,657 2,657 2,483 92 83 413 3,071

Debt repurchases 1,251 1,251 1,251 5 0 1,251

Non-settled transactions 203 203

Total 3,909 0 3,909 3,734 96 83 616 4,524

1) Other instruments in the balance sheet not classed as subject to agreements that allow netting.

Related party, SEK m 2016 2015
Trophi Fastighets AB
Interest income 81 100
Shareholder loans 2,064 2,057
Capital increases during the year 1,436 348

Regio AB
Capital increases during the year 588 -

Ellevio AB
Interest income 301 172
Shareholder loans 3,598 3,423

Trenum AB
Shareholder loans 1,174 -
Capital increases during the year 25 -

Parties related to AP3 are companies in which AP3 has a shareholding that gives it 
significant or decisive influence or in which AP3 employees hold leading positions. 
Five AP3 employees served as directors of related parties in 2016: Kerstin Hessius at 
Vasakronan, Hemsö and Trenum;  Bengt Hellström at Hemsö, Trophi, Trenum and 
for part of the year at Ellevio; Mårten Lindeborg at Regio; Klas Åkerbäck at Regio, 

Trophi and for part of the year at Ellevio, and Mattias Bylund at Ellevio. These 
directorships were unpaid. The AP3 Chairman of the board, Pär Nuder, also served 
as a director of Hemsö and in this capacity was paid a fee of SEK 420 thousand. AP3 
rents its office space from Vasakronan at market rates.

   NOTE 21 cont.
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Stockholm, 24 February 2017

Pär Nuder, Chairman              Björn Börjesson, Deputy Chairman

Malin Björkmo              Inga-Lill Carlberg              Peter Englund

Lars Ernsäter              Kerstin Lindberg Göransson              Peter Hellberg

Elisabeth Unell              Kerstin Hessius, CEO

Our auditor’s report was submitted on 24 February 2017.

 Peter Nilsson
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government    

Sussanne Sundvall
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government

Signatures of board of directors and CEO
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Auditor’s Report 
For the Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3), Corporate Identity Number 802014-4120

Report on the audit of the annual accounts 
Opinion
We have audited the annual accounts of the Third Swedish 
National Pension Fund for the 2016 financial year. The Fund’s 
annual accounts are included in the printed version of this docu-
ment on pages 33 – 56. 

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the National Pension Insurance Funds Act 
(2000:192) and present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of the Third Swedish National Pension Fund as at 31 
December 2016 and of its financial performance for the year then 
ended, according to the National Pension Insurance Funds Act. 

The statutory administration report is consistent with the other 
parts of the annual accounts. 

We, therefore, recommend that the income statement and bal-
ance sheet be adopted. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden. Our responsibilities according to those standards are 
described in more detail in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section 
below. We are independent of the Third Swedish National Pension 
Fund according to generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden 
and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities according to 
those standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information than the annual accounts  
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises pages 
1 – 30 and 70 – 80 (but does not include the annual accounts and 
our auditor’s report thereon). 

Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover this other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclu-
sion regarding this other information. 

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our 
responsibility is to read the information identified above and con-
sider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the 
annual accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our 
knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the 
information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If we, based on the work performed concerning this informa-
tion, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors  
and the Managing Director 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation of the annual accounts and that they give a fair 
presentation in accordance with the National Pension Insurance 

Funds Act. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
also responsible for such internal control as they deem necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts, the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director are required to assess the Fund’s  capacity 
to continue its operations. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to such assessments and using the going concern basis of 
accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is, however, 
not applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
intend to liquidate the Fund or cease operations, or have no realis-
tic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the annual accounts as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assur-
ance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will 
always identify a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered to be mate-
rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these annual accounts. 

As a part of the audit in accordance with ISAs, we exer-
cise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the 

annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error, design and per-
form audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-
representations, or the override of internal control.

 •  Obtain an understanding of the Fund’s internal control relevant 
to our audit in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting principles used 
and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and 
the Managing Director’s application of the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the annual accounts. We also draw a 
conclusion, based on the evidence obtained, as to whether any 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such dis-
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closures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about the annual 
accounts. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
annual accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the 
annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform of sig-
nificant audit findings during our audit, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

Report on other legal and regulatory  
requirements 
Opinion
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we have also 
audited the inventory of the assets managed by the Third Swedish 
National Pension Fund. We have also examined whether there are 
any qualifications regarding the Board of Directors’ and the Man-
aging Director’s administration of the Third Swedish National Pen-
sion Fund for the 2016 financial year. 

The audit has resulted in no grounds for qualification regarding 
the inventory of the assets or the administration of the Fund. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
 section below. We are independent of the Third Swedish National 
Pension Fund in accordance with professional ethics for account-
ants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibili-
ties in accordance with these requirements.

 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors  
and Managing Director 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the annual accounts and for the administration of the Fund’s 
assets according to the National Pension Insurance Funds Act. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Fund’s organisa-
tion and the administration of the Fund’s affairs. This includes 
among other things continuous assessment of the Fund’s financial 
situation and ensuring that the Fund’s organisation is designed so 
that the accounting, management of assets and the Fund’s finan-
cial affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring manner. The 
Managing Director is responsible for the ongoing administration 
according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and instructions 
and shall among other matters take measures that are necessary to 
fulfill the Fund’s accounting in accordance with law and handle 
the management of assets in a reassuring manner. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our responsibility concerning the audit of the administration and, 
thereby, our opinion on discharge from liability, is to obtain audit 
evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether 
there is any reason for qualification in respect any member of the 
Board of Directors or the Managing Director of the Third Swedish 
National Pension Fund for the 2016 financial year.

 Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always identify actions 
or omissions that can give rise to qualification.

 As a part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The 
examination of the administration is based primarily on the audit 
of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are based 
on our professional judgment, with the starting point being risks 
and materiality. This means that we focus the examination on such 
actions, areas and relationships that are material for the operations 
and where deviations and violations would have particular sig-
nificance to the Fund’s situation. We examine and test decisions 
undertaken, support for decisions, actions taken and other circum-
stances that are relevant to our opinion on the administration. 

Stockholm, 24 February 2017

Sussanne Sundvall
Authorised Public Accountant  

Appointed by the Swedish Government 

Peter Nilsson
Authorised Public Accountant  

Appointed by the Swedish Government 
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AP3 Consumer price indexIncome index

AP3 since inception in 2001    
Since 2001 AP3 has operated under a parliamentary mandate to manage its fund capital in the best interests of the income pension system. 
AP3 aims to achieve its target of an average real return of 4% over time by investing in a diversified global portfolio of listed equities, fixed 
income assets and alternative investments. 

Total return after expenses, %

From 2001 to 2008 two large stock market cor-
rections put the Swedish pension system under 
considerable pressure. But in spite of this diffi-
cult start, AP3 has recorded an average nominal 
return of 5.7% after expenses since inception.

Return after expenses 2001 – 2016, %

Pensions and pension credits are indexed 
upwards annually in line with the income index. 
For AP3 to make a positive contribution to the 
pension system, the Fund’s returns have to grow 
in line with the income index, which since 2001 
has risen at an annual average of 3.0%. During 
this period, AP3’s nominal return has averaged 
5.7%, which represents an outperformance of 
the income index of 2.7 percentage points.

The increase in fund capital since 2001 consists 
of: transfers from special asset management and 
phase-out funds of SEK 6,938 million, asset man-
agement returns generated by AP3 totalling SEK 
205,729 million, and net payments to the pension 
system of SEK 22,267 million. AP3 has been a net 
contributor to the pension system since 2009 and 
has so far paid out a total of SEK 36,556 million.

AP3 launched in 2001 in conjunction with the in-
troduction of a new pension system with capital  
of SEK 133,975 million. Incoming payments to  
the pension system exceeded liabilities until 2008, 
since when the AP funds have paid out a com-
bined SEK 146,224 million to cover the deficit  
in the system. 

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Fund capital at 31 December

SEK bn

Fund capital since inception in 2001, SEK m

Fund capital at  
inception 2001

Net flow to the 
pension system

2001–2016

Transfers from special 
 asset management and 

phase-out funds

Total return  
after expenses   

2001–2016

Fund capital at 
 31 Dec 2016

-20

-10

0

10

20

2016201520142013201220112010200920082007200620052004200320022001

13.7

6.8
9.4

-4.2

-12.6

16.2

11.2

17.7

9.5

5.0

-19.8

16.3

9.0

-2.5

10.7
14.1

133,975 6,938

-22,267

205,729
324,375

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

132.7
120.2

142.5
160.3

192.0 212.2 224.9

181.0
206.5 220.8 214.1

233.0
258.5

288.3 303.0
324.4

-30

0

30

60

90

120

150

2001 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

ANNUAL REPORT 2016  |  59

A P3 S I N C E I N C E PT I O N  | AP3

Eng_59_68_v12.indd   59 2017-04-20   17:52



AP3  | FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

Five-year summary

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

INCOME AND FLOWS
SEK bn
Net profit 28.0 19.6 35.0 32.4 22.6
Net flow from pension system -6.6 -4.9 -5.1 -6.9 -3.8

Fund capital at 31 Dec1 324.4 303.0 288.3 258.5 233.0

RETURN AND EXPENSES, TOTAL PORTFOLIO
%
Return before expenses 9.5 6.9 13.8 14.2 10.7
Operating expenses 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.08
Commission expenses 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.05
Return after expenses 9.4 6.8 13.7 14.1 10.7

Inflation 1.7 0.1 -0.3 0.1 -0.1
Real return after expenses 7.6 6.7 14.1 14.0 10.7
SEK bn
Income (incl. commission expenses) 28.2 19.8 35.2 32.6 22.8
Operating expenses 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1
Profit after expenses 28.0 19.6 35.0 32.4 22.6

ANNUALISED NOMINAL RETURN AFTER EXPENSES
%
5 years (2012 – 2016) 10.9 8.4 8.8 9.3 1.9
10 years (2007 – 2013) 5.7 5.7 6.8 6.5 6.7

RISK
Risk (1-yr standard deviation) for total portfolio, % 6.2 7.0 4.7 4.9 5.3
Risk (1-yr standard deviation) for liquid assets, % 7.2 8.0 5.2 5.7 6.3
Sharpe ratio 1.6 1.0 2.8 2.8 1.8
Sharpe ratio liquid assets 1.1 0.5 2.3 2.3 1.6
Information ratiot2, active management 1.4 0.9 1.4 1.8 4.4
Risk (10-yr standard deviation), % 8.0 8.1 7.8 7.9

CURRENCY EXPOSURE
% of total portfolio2 17.5 22.8 24.4 20.4 22.0

EXTERNAL MANAGEMENT
% of total portfolio 29.0 31.0 33.2 35.2 35.7

ASSET MANAGEMENT EXPENSES
% of assets under management
Operating expenses 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.08
Operating and commission expenses 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.13 0.14

No. of employees at 31 Dec 57 51 57 53 56

1) Fund capital on 1 January 2001 was SEK 134.0 billion. 
2) Excluding exposure to SEK-listed companies with a foreign domicile.

Change in fund capital

SEK m 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Fund capital at 1 Jan1 303,031 288,332 258,475 232,956 214,106
Net flows -6,637 -4,944 -5,120 -6,880 -3,788
Income 27,981 19,643 34,977 32,398 22,638

Fund capital at 31 Dec 324,375 303,031 288,332 258,475 232,956

1) Fund capital at inception in 2001 was SEK 133,975 million.
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Market value per asset category

SEK bn 2016-12-31 2015-12-31 2014-12-31 2013-12-31 2012-12-31

LISTED EQUITIES1 Sweden 40.3 34.2 31.7 32.6 26.2
Europe 23.7 29.2 27.6 26.6 25.5
North America 50.4 43.9 50.1 41.8 29.3
Asia 9.2 14.5 12.4 12.4 11.8
Emerging markets 15.0 11.2 10.4 14.6 14.3

Total listed equities 138.7 132.9 132.2 128.0 107.2

FIXED INCOME1

Nominal Sweden 45.2 35.9 37.8 50.7 54.2
Eurozone 1.4 2.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
UK 9.3 8.5 8.5 2.6 2.4
USA 44.1 46.3 43.1 13.1 12.4
Asia 0.0 3.1 3.1 0.0 0.0

 
Index-linked bonds Sweden 4.8 5.8 12.5 14.5 15.3

Eurozone 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 2.8
Japan 0.2
USA 15.5 13.0 2.8 4.6 0.0

Total fixed income 120.5 114.5 110.3 90.6 89.5

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS1

Real estate and infrastructure Vasakronan 13.8 12.2 10.2 10.3 8.4

Hemsö 10.1 8.2 6.7 7.0 3.2
Trophi 6.3 3.4 2.7 1.0 -
Ellevio 5.2 4.8 - - -

Regio 1.7 0.9 - - -
Trenum 1.3
Sagax 0.9 0.8 0.5 0.3 -
Timberland and agricultural land 5.7 5.5 4.8 4.3 4.2
International real estate funds2 7.0 6.6 8.5 5.6 3.8

Total real estate and infrastructure 52.0 42.6 33.4 28.5 19.6

Unlisted equities 10.0 10.2 10.6 9.8 11.4

Other assets3 3.0 2.7 1.8 1.6 5.2

Total alternative investments   65.1 55.5 45.8 39.8 36.3

Total 324.4 303.0 288.3 258.5 233.0

1) Cash used for position-taking in forwards is divided among the relevant asset categories,  which means the figures in the table are not fully comparable with those in the balance sheet.
2) Includes infrastructure funds.     
3) Other assets include investments in convertible debentures and insurance-related risk.
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Allocation of fund capital between internal and external management mandates at 31 Dec 2016

Mandate Market value, SEK m Share of fund capital, %

EXTERNAL DISCRETIONARY MANDATES
Equity mandates
Passive mandates
BlackRock Investment Management Europe – Small cap 7,025
BlackRock Investment Management Japan 4,528

BlackRock Investment Management Asia-Pacific 4 496
BlackRock Investment Management North America – Mid cap 6 749
Enhanced mandates
BlackRock Investment Management North America – Large cap 14 249
BlackRock Investment Management North America – Small cap 5,474

42,521 13%

FUND INVESTMENTS
Listed assets

Equity funds 18,257
Absolute return strategies and hedge funds 12,542
Unlisted assets
Private equity funds 12,822
Real estate funds 2 344
Timberland funds 5,689

51,654 16%

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT MANDATES
Listed shares and investments 80,290
Fixed income and credits 101,326
Insurance-related risk 2,948
Unlisted holdings in real estate companies 38,407

222,972 69%

OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES1 7,227 2%

TOTAL FUND CAPITAL 324,375 100%

1) Consist primarily of cash and currency hedges.

Five largest holdings in Swedish listed companies

Name
Number  

of shares
Share of  

equity
Share of  

voting rights
Market  

value, SEK m
Nordea Bank AB 31,272,042 0,77 0,77 3,168
Hennes & Mauritz AB 10,681,911 0,65 0,31 2,707 
Atlas Copco AB 9,341,919 0,74 0,52 2 440 
Volvo AB 20,221,518 0,95 0,48 2 153 

Swedbank AB 8,707,979 0,77 0,77 1,918

Five largest holdings in foreign listed companies 

Name
Number  

of shares
Market value,  

SEK m
Royal Dutch Shell Plc 4,584,805 1,143
Renewables Infrastructure  Group Ltd 82,742,107 1,018
Apple Inc 941,214 990 
Roche Holding AG 497,559 967

Pandora A/S 709,000 844

Ten largest recipients of brokerage fees in 2016

ABG/Sundal Collier JP Morgan SEB
Carnegie Morgan Stanley UBS
Citi Neonet Securities
Danske Bank Nordea

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes  
of AP3’s foreign exchange trading in 2016

BNP Danske Bank JP Morgan
Citi Goldman Sachs

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes  
of AP3’s fixed income trading in 2016

Barclays Goldman Sachs UBS
Danske Bank JP Morgan 
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Details of AP3’s holdings of listed 
 equities, fixed income assets,  unlisted 
equities via private equity funds, and 
timberland and real estate invest-
ments can be downloaded from  
www.ap3.se

Total invested in unlisted equity funds since inception, 
at 31 Dec 2016

AP3 had invested SEK 23,668 million of its commitments as 
of 31 Dec 2016. Holdings and distributions had a combined 
market value of SEK 35,586 million.

Market value of AP3’s directly owned unlisted investments at 31 Dec 2016

AP3’s long-term mandate enables the Fund to invest in relatively illiquid assets. These investments help to diversify portfolio risk and raise potential returns 
through liquidity premiums and other advantages. AP3’s diversification-oriented investments consist of private equity funds, real estate, timberland and 
other assets. Alternative investments rose from SEK 3,752 million in 2001 to SEK 65,090 million in 2016 and at 31 December 2016 accounted for 20.1% of 
the overall portfolio.  

Diversification through alternative investments 2001 – 2016  

Real estate, infrastructure and timberland Unlisted equities Other assets Percentage of fund capital
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AP3 directly owns shares in six unlisted companies. These holdings vary in size from 20% to 100% of 
the equity. 
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Contents as per GRI
AP3 has a longstanding commitment to exercising environmental and social governance in our investing activities 
because responsible investment forms an integral part of our mandate. We do so by incorporating ESG in our 
investment analysis, corporate stewardship and engagement in the AP funds’ Ethical Council. We report annually on 
our performance in this area in the AP3 corporate stewardship report and the Ethical Council annual report.  

For the 2016 financial year, we have expanded our disclo-
sures of economic, environmental and social impacts in the 
annual accounts. We base our sustainability reporting on the 
Global Reporting Initiative’s G4 guidelines and Financial Ser-
vices Sector Disclosures. The report covers AP3’s operating 
activities to the same degree as in the financial statements 
and with no limitations. Reporting indicators were selected 
on the basis of both the requirements and expectations of 

AP3’s stakeholders and the Fund’s own priorities, thus estab-
lishing a common view with regards to materiality. Some of 
the reported GRI indicators are incomplete. Going forward, 
we intend to develop further our disclosures, data and pro-
cedures in relation to sustainability reporting. 

This GRI report has not been reviewed by a third party 
but is designed to meet future oversight needs. 

Indicator Name Reference

Strategy and analysis
G4-1 Statement from the most senior 

decision-maker of the organisation
pp 4-5

Organisational profile
G4-3 Name of the organisation p 1

G4-4 Primary brands, products and 
services

AP3 does not sell products or 
services. The Fund manages pension 
capital on behalf of the national 
income pension system (see p 6)

G4-5 Location of organisation's 
headquarters

p 68

G4-6 Number of countries where the 
organisation operates

AP3's sole office is in Stockholm. The 
Fund invests globally (see p 24)

G4-7 Nature of ownership and legal form p 26

G4-8 Markets served p 35

G4-9 Scale of the reporting organisation pp 3, 60

G4-10 Number of employees  p 47

G4-11 Employees covered by collective 
bargaining agreements

p 48

G4-12 The organisation's supply chain p 62

G4-13 Significant changes regarding size, 
structure, ownership or value chain

p 16

G4-14 Management of the precautionary 
principle

p 36

G4-15 External economic, environmental 
and social charters, principles or 
other initiatives to which the 
organisation subscribes or endorses

pp 9, 11. AP3 corporate stewardship 
report, Ethical Council annual report

G4-16 Membership of trade and other 
associations  

pp 23-24. AP3 corporate stewardship 
report, Ethical Council annual report

Report materiality and parameters
G4-17 Units included, and not included, in 

the report
pp 45, 64

G4-18 Procedure for defining report 
content

pp 18-19

G4-19 Material aspects identified p 19

G4-20 Boundary of each aspect within the 
organisation

pp 18-19, 64

G4-21 Boundary of each aspect outside 
the organisation

pp 18-19, 64  

G4-21 Boundary of each aspect outside 
the organisation

pp 18-19, 64  

Indicator Name Reference

G4-22 Explanation of the effect of any 
re-statements of information 
provided in earlier reports

p 45 relating to economic data. No 
changes have occurred since the 
prior report

G4-23 Significant changes from previous 
reporting periods regarding the 
scope or boundary of the report

p 45 relating to economic data. No 
changes have occurred since the 
prior report

Stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation
G4-24 List of stakeholder groups p 18

G4-25 Basis for identification and 
selection of stakeholder groups

p 18

G4-26 Approaches to stakeholder engage - 
ment in preparation of the report

pp 18-19

G4-27 Key topics and concerns raised 
through stakeholder engagement 
and how the organisation has 
responded, including through its 
reporting

pp 18-19

Profile of the report
G4-28 Reporting period 1/1-31/12 2016

G4-29 Date of previous report AP3 published its prior report 
according to GRI  on 18 Feb 2016.

G4-30 Reporting cycle The financial year is the same as the 
calendar year

G4-31 Contact p 2 and info@ap3.se 

G4-32 GRI contents and references pp 64-65

G4-33 Policy with regard to seeking 
external assurance for the report

Has not been submitted to third 
party for review

Corporate stewardship
G4-34 Governance structure of the 

organisation, including responsibili-
ties for economic, environmental 
and social impacts

Fund governance report pp 26-29

Ethics and integrity
G4-56 Values, principles and codes of 

conduct
pp 17, 23

General standard disclosures
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Indicator Name Reference

SOCIETY
Local society
G4-DMA Local society p 65

FS13 Access points in low-populated or 
economically disadvantaged areas 

Not relevant to asset 
management company

FS14 Initiatives to improve accessibility Not relevant to asset 
management company

Anti-corruption
Specific 
DMA

Procedure for analysing risks related to 
corruption

pp 8-9

G4-SO4 Communications and training pp 16-17

G4-SO5 Incidents of corruption No incidents of corruption 
occurred in 2016

Anti-competitive behaviour
G4-DMA Anti-competitive behaviour p 65

G4-SO7 Legal actions for anti-competitive 
behaviour taken against the 
organisation

Not relevant to AP3. AP3 
manages its own assets, i.e. is a 
government body and manages 
state-owned assets 

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
Labelling of products and services
G4-DMA Labelling of products and services p 65

FS15 Policy for fair design and sale of 
financial services and products

Not relevant to AP3

FS16 Initiatives to improve financial 
disclosures

pp 18-19

IMPACT ON PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
Product portfolio
G4-DMA Product portfolio pp 21-22, 25

FS1 Guidelines for environmental and 
social aspects

pp 9-12, 19

FS2 Procedures to evaluate and analyse 
environmental and social risks 

pp 9-12

FS3 Processes for analysing clients' 
implementation and compliance 

Not relevant to asset 
management company

FS4 Processes for employees to take 
actions in social and environmental 
responsibility 

pp 9, 16-17

FS5 Interactions with investees and 
partners regarding environmental and 
social risks and opportunities

pp 10-12

FS6 Product portfolio AP3 asset management 
portfolio, see pp 21-22, 25 and 
administration report

FS7 Economic value of products and 
services with special social objectives 

Not relevant to asset 
management company

FS8 Economic value of products and 
services with special environmental 
objectives 

Not relevant to asset 
management company

AUDITS
G4-DMA Audits p 26

FS9 Audits to evaluate environmental and 
social policies

p 26. AP3 makes no social audits 
of its suppliers

ACTIVE OWNERSHIP
G4-DMA Active ownership p 24

FS10 Companies with which the organisation 
has engaged on environmental or 
social issues

pp 21-22. Ethical Council  
annual report,
www.etikradetapfonderna.se

FS11 Assets subject to environmental or 
social screening

pp 21-22. Ethical Council  
annual report,
www.etikradetapfonderna.se

FS12 Voting policies applied to  
environmental or social issues 

p 24 and www.ap3.se

Indicator Name Reference

Sector-specific disclosures

FINANCE
Specific 
DMA

Explain the organisation's strategy 
for social investments 

AP3's operating activities relate 
primarily to managing capital assets 
within the national pension system, an 
important social mandate. See p 6

G4-EC1 Direct economic value generated 
and distributed

www.ap3.se

ENVIRONMENT
Energy
G4-DMA Energy www.ap3.se

G4-EN3 Energy consumption www.ap3.se

Emissions
G4-DMA Emissions www.ap3.se

G4-EN15 Direct greenhouse gas emissions www.ap3.se

G4-EN16 Indirect greenhouse gas emissions www.ap3.se

Waste
G4-DMA Waste www.ap3.se

G4-EN23 Waste www.ap3.se

SOCIAL

LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
Specific 
DMA

Legal deviations regarding labour 
conditions in the value chain 

Not relevant to AP3

G4-LA1 New employees and rate of 
employee turnover

pp 34, 47-48

G4-LA2 Benefits to full-time employees pp 47-48

Health and safety of employees
Specific 
DMA

Programmes that support 
employees and their families 

pages 16-17

G4-LA6 Rates of injury, lost days and 
work-related fatalities

No work-related injuries or accidents 
occurred in 2016. Lost days p 48. 

Training
G4-DMA Training pp 16-17, 34

G4-LA9 Hours of training per employee Not measured, see pp 16-17, 34

G4-LA11 Evaluation and monitoring pp 16-17, 34

Diversity and equality
G4-DMA Diversity and equality pages 16-17

G4-LA12 Composition of the organisation's 
decision-making bodies

p 47

HUMAN RIGHTS
Investments
G4-DMA Investments p 63

G4-HR1 Investment decisions that include 
human rights clauses

pp 9-11

Non-discrimination
G4-DMA Non-discrimination p 65

G4-HR3 Discrimination AP3 has an internal policy. Discrimi- 
nation is prohibited. No cases were 
reported in 2016

Freedom of association and collective bargaining
Specific 
DMA

Policies p 48

G4-HR4 Freedom of association and 
collective bargaining 

Freedom of association exists at AP3 
and the Fund has collective 
agreements with trade unions, p 48

Child labour
G4-DMA Child labour p 65

G4-HR5 Operations identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of child 
labour

AP3 does not employee people under 
the age of 18

Forced or compulsory labour
G4-DMA Forced or compulsory labour p 65

G4-HR6 Operations identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of forced 
or compulsory labour 

Not relevant to AP3
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Absolute return The actual return, in cash or 
percentage terms, that a portfolio generates 
over a specific period.

Active management Form of management 
based on taking active positions to achieve 
higher returns than the benchmark index . Active 
positions are taken by being overweight or 
underweight in assets relative to the benchmark 
index or reference portfolio based on the 
projected market outlook.

Alpha Returns that are higher than beta and 
achieved by taking active positions. See Beta.

Automatic balancing Method of restoring the 
financial balance between pension system assets 
and liabilities when the balance figure falls below 
1. Another way of putting it is that a “brake” is 
applied to pensions and pension credits which 
results in them following a balance index rather 
than the income index.

Balance figure Total pension system assets 
(excluding premium pensions) divided by 
liabilities. If the balance figure drops below 1, 
the automatic balancing mechanism is activated. 
This affects pension indexing. 

Balance index Key metric used to restore the 
pension system to balance. Results in pensions 
increasing at a lower rate or being reduced.

Benchmark index Used to evaluate the return 
on a portfolio. Usually takes the form of a 
standardised market index and is  also known as 
the reference index. 

Beta Sensitivity of a portfolio or equity to equity 
market movements. Beta can also be expressed 
as the return generated by passive exposure to 
risks such as equity risk, credit risk and volatility. 

Buffer fund The name for AP1, AP2, AP3, AP4 
and AP6. The role of the buffer funds is to even 
out temporary variations between pension 
contributions and disbursements and to assist 
in the long-term financing of the pension system.

Buyout Acquisition by an entity of a controlling 
interest in a mature company. 

Clearing All activities that take place after a 
transaction is completed in a market and prior to 
settlement. Includes reporting, risk measure-
ment and netting. 

Clearing house An institution with regulatory 
approval to conduct clearing operations. Most 
countries only have one or very few. In Sweden, 
clearing is via the Stockholm Stock Exchange. 
Stockholmsbörsen, the exchange operator, acts 
as counterparty for all derivatives traded on the 
exchange.

CLS Bank owned by currency market counterpar-
ties and used in most currency transactions for 
effective settlement.

Code of conduct Group-wide framework of 
rules and systems to manage environmental and 
social affairs.

Credit default swap (CDS) See Credit swap.

Credit swap Derivative contract between 
two parties, A and B, in which A pays B an 
interest premium for a specific period of time. 
B only pays a premium to A in the event that 
a predefined asset-related event occurs. The 
size of this premium is the difference between 
the nominal underlying value of the derivative 
contract and the market value of the asset in 
question (credit default swap).

CSA agreement Annex to an ISDA agreement 
that regulates how an entity with an outstanding 
debt (unrealised loss) must provide collateral in 
the form of cash or securities.

Currency hedge Transaction to neutralise 
currency risk, that is the risk attached to making 
investments in currencies other than the 
Swedish krona.

Derivative Financial instrument whose price 
is determined by underlying value. Options, 
forwards and swaps are generally classed as 
derivatives. The value of a derivative depends 
on changes in the underlying value of the 
instrument.

Distribution Repayment of an invested sum plus 
capital gains.

Duration Used as a measure of interest rate risk 
and is  expressed as the average fixed interest 
period. It can be used to estimate changes in 
value based on assumed changes in interest 
rates.

Forward A contract in which counterparties 
undertake to buy or sell an underlying asset at 
a predetermined price and at a prearranged 
moment in time. Examples include currency 
forwards, interest rate forwards, forward rate 
agreements (FRAs) and equity index forwards. 
The contracts are also known as futures.

Income index Key metric that measures average 
annual income growth in Sweden. Is used to 
track pension growth provided that automatic 
balancing has not been activated. 

Index management See Passive management. 

Information radio Efficiency measurement for 
active management. Indicates how much AP3 
earns from active risk-taking and from deviating 
from the strategic portfolio or index. Is measured 
as active return divided by active risk (tracking 
error). 

Insurance-related bond Bond whose return is 
connected to exposure against disaster-related 
risks such as hurricanes and earthquakes.

Investment grade Bonds which have a credit 
rating of BBB or higher. They are generally 
associated with low credit risk. 

IPEV The International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Valuation Board is an interna-
tional organisation for private equity and venture 
capital firms. It issues valuation guidelines based 
on IFRS and US GAAP, which are regarded as 
industry standards.

ISDA agreement Bilateral agreement between 
two OTC counterparties that regulates the 
events that could generally be expected to occur 
between them.

LSP The long-term static portfolio is a zero-cost 
portfolio against which AP3 benchmarks its asset 
management. Its portfolio is a 50:50 mix of listed 
equities and fixed income instruments compris-
ing Swedish (25%) and global indices (75%) that 
are weighted as follows: equities (50%) and fixed 
income (50%). Currency exposure is 20%. 

National Pension Insurance Funds Act Govern-
ment act (2000:192) establishing and regulating 
the AP funds. The act was passed by Parliament 
in 2000 as part of a five-party agreement to 
introduce a new income pension system.

Option Entitles the holder to buy or sell 
an underlying asset at a predefined price 
and moment in time. The option issuer has 
equivalent obligations. Options may include 
currency options, interest rate options and share 
options.

OTC Short for over the counter. Refers to 
contracts agreed and settled between two 
counterparties without the involvement of a 
clearing house.

Passive management Asset management 
that aims to achieve an identical return to the 
benchmark index rather than to outperform the 
index. This is done by making investments that 
mirror a reference portfolio or index  and is also 
known as index management.

Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) 
An international network of investors that 
promotes the implementation of six principles of 
responsible investment. 

Private equity Collective term for equities that 
are not listed on an official or public market. 

Rating A measure of creditworthiness that 
reflects the probability of a counterparty being 
able to honour its commitments. The rating may 
relate to the counterparty itself or a series of 
securities issued by the counterparty.

Realised volatility See Volatility.

Real return Nominal return adjusted for 
inflation.
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Reference portfolio A portfolio of different 
assets whose composition is designed to 
facilitate comparisons. 

Risk-adjusted return A means of evaluating 
asset management performance in which active 
return is considered in relation to the level of 
risk in the portfolio. The Sharpe and information 
ratios are two examples.

Risk budgeting Adjustment of risk levels across 
management mandates based on their expected 
return and correlation to optimise the total 
risk-adjusted return.

Risk capital Generally refers to investments 
in a company’s equity. Relates in practice to 
investments in entities that are not listed on a 
market, that is, private equity.

Sharpe ratio Measurement of a portfolio’s 
risk-adjusted return, that is, the efficiency of 
the portfolio. It equates to portfolio return 
minus risk-free interest divided by the standard 
deviation of portfolio return.

Stop loss A predetermined level of cumulative 
losses over a specific period of time resulting in 
the immediate closure of all positions.

Swap Contract in which counterparties agree 
to exchange flows based on an underlying asset 
and under prearranged terms and conditions. 
Often runs for periods of more than 12 months. 
Examples include interest rate swaps, currency 
swaps and total return swaps.

Tracking error Measures the variation in active 
return and is measured as the standard deviation 
of active return. Historic (ex post) tracking error 
describes the variation in realised active return 
and thus measures risk levels retroactively. 
Expected (ex ante) tracking error is a forecast. 

Value at risk (VaR) A common measure of 
the maximum loss that a portfolio can incur 
for a given period and with a certain level of 
confidence. VaR is calculated daily for a period 
of one day and with a confidence level of 95%. 
Portfolio management often requires changes to 
the portfolio structure to keep this risk of loss at 
an acceptable level. 

Volatility A measure of the variation in return. 
Measured as the standard deviation of return. 
Realised volatility is measured as historical 
return.

Measures of return and risk

Absolute return (rp)  Portfolio return

Absolute risk or volatility  ( p)  Standard deviation of portfolio returns

Information ratio (risk-adjusted active return)  Active return divided by active risk = 
 

 Sharpe ratio (risk-adjusted absolute return)  Portfolio return minus risk-free return divided by absolute risk= 
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